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Report by the manager

General information 

Legal and fiscal aspects 
Robeco QI Institutional Emerging Markets Enhanced Index Equities Fund (the “fund”) is an open fund for joint account within the

meaning of the Dutch Corporation Tax Act 1969. The Fund is formed by the Fund's assets that are obtained through deposits by 

participants, entitling participation in the Fund's assets. On the basis of Section 28 of the Dutch Corporation Tax Act, the fund has the 

status of a fiscal investment company. This means that 0% corporate-income tax is due, providing that, after deducting 15% in Dutch 

dividend tax, the fund makes its profit available for distribution to participants in the form of dividend within eight months of the close of 

the financial year and satisfies any other relevant regulations. 

Robeco Institutional Asset Management B.V. (“RIAM”) is the fund manager. In this capacity, RIAM handles the asset management, 

administration and marketing and distribution of the fund. RIAM has a license from the AIFMD within the meaning of Section 2:65 of 

the Wft. In addition, RIAM is licensed as a manager of UCITS (2:69b Wft, the Dutch Financial Supervision Act), which includes 

managing individual assets and giving advice on financial instruments. RIAM is subject to supervision by the Dutch Authority for the 

Financial Markets (Stichting Autoriteit Financiële Markten, “AFM”). 

The assets of the fund are held in custody by J.P. Morgan Bank Luxembourg S.A., Amsterdam Branch. J.P. Morgan Bank Luxembourg 

S.A., Amsterdam Branch is appointed as the custodian of the fund as referred to in Section 4:62n Wft. The custodian is responsible for 

supervising the fund insofar as required under and in accordance with the applicable legislation. The manager, the fund and J.P. Morgan 

Bank Luxembourg S.A., Amsterdam Branch have concluded a custody agreement. 

The fund is subject to statutory supervision by the AFM. The fund has been entered in the register as specified in Section 1:107 of the 

Wft. 

Robeco
When ‘Robeco’ is mentioned it means RIAM as well as the activities of other companies that fall within the scope of Robeco’s 

management. 

Supervision by the Supervisory Board of Robeco Institutional Asset Management B.V. 
The Supervisory Board of Robeco Institutional Asset Management B.V. supervises the funds under management. During the meetings of

the Supervisory Board, attention was paid, among other things, to developments in the financial markets and the performance of the

funds.

Based on periodic reports, the Supervisory Board discussed the results of the funds with the policy makers of the manager. These

discussions focused on the investment results, the development of assets under management as a result of market movements and the net 

inflow of new money as well as operational matters. 

In the meetings of the Audit & Risk Committee of the Supervisory Board, the interim financial reports and the reports of the independent 

auditor were regularly on the agenda. In addition, risk management, incident management and the tax position were discussed. The

quarterly reports from internal audit, compliance, legal affairs and risk management were also discussed. Attention was also paid to fund 

governance and compliance with the principles that Robeco has established in order to secure a careful handling of (potential) conflicts 

of interest between RIAM as a fund manager and the investors in the funds. The following subjects were on the agenda, among others:

an annual report of fund governance related monitoring activities prepared by the Compliance department, the Audit Report of KPMG

and the annual reports and semi-annual reports of the funds. The Supervisory Board has determined that Robeco's principles for fund

governance are applied. 

Market Impact Covid-19 
Robeco Institutional Asset Management B.V. considers the COVID-19 (Corona) Pandemic as a significant event after closing the 

Annual Reports 2019 of the Investment Funds under management. The impact of the pandemic on people, companies and the economy 

at large cannot be assessed in full depth at this stage. However, the impact may have a downward effect on the performance. Measures to 

mitigate the immediate operational risks are in place. Additional measures are dependent on our own assessments and the response of the 

authorities. 

Our operational measures for business continuity 
In response to the Covid-19 outbreak, Robeco is constantly monitoring the latest developments and has taken all measures necessary to 

manage the situation and to ensure business continuity. Our operational measures and capabilities are such that Robeco remains fully 

functional in managing client portfolios and serving clients. Our systems and platforms are designed to enable our staff, most of whom 

are working from home, to operate as normal. Our approach is one of vigilance and flexibility, allowing us to implement new or revised 

measures smoothly and as necessary to ensure the health and safety of our staff while maintaining business continuity. 
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Report by the manager (continued) 

General information (continued) 

Outsourcing of part of the operational activities to J.P. Morgan 
Early 2018, Robeco announced that it would be outsourcing part of its operations and administration activities to J.P. Morgan. The

decision to outsource is part of the Robeco’s strategic plan for the 2017-2021 period, which envisages further international growth in 

both investment and client servicing activities. In the course of 2018,  J.P. Morgan became Robeco’s service provider for fund 

accounting, operations, custody, depositary and securities lending, in two phases. In April 2019, J.P. Morgan also became Robeco’s 

transfer agent for all funds.  

Issuance and repurchase of participating units 
The issuance and repurchasing of participating units is possible exclusively through the fund in accordance with the terms set out in the 

Terms and Conditions of Management and Custody. For entry into the fund or for an increase in participation or for full or partial 

redemption of the participation, the manager will charge a fee on the deposit or cancellation value to cover the associated transaction 

costs. These fees will accrue to the fund. The fee thus determined can be requested from the manager. The maximum current surcharge 

or discount is 0.50%. 

Terms and Conditions for Management and Custody
The Terms and Conditions of Management and Custody of Robeco QI Institutional Emerging Markets Enhanced Index Equities Fund 

can be obtained from the fund's address. 

Key figures 

Overview 2015 - 2019                     

2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 Average 

Performance in % based on:     

– Net asset value 1 19.7  -10.5 22.3 15.2 -7.1 7.0 

– MSCI Emerging Markets Index (net 

return, in EUR) 2
20.6  -10.3 20.6 14.5 -5.2 7.2

    

Dividend 3 3.63 3.60 3.39 2.53 3.20 

Total net assets 4 1,743 1,234 1,432 1,281 1,024 

1 Any dividends distributed in any year are assumed to have been reinvested in the fund. 
2 Currencies have been converted at rates supplied by World Market Reuters. 
3 The dividend relates to the reporting year mentioned and is distributed in the following year. 2019 concerns a proposal. Further  information on the proposed dividend can be found in 

the section Proposed profit appropriation on page 36. 
4 In millions of euros. 

General introduction 

Financial market environment 
2019 has been a paradoxical year for financial markets; stellar performances for equity and fixed income in an uncertain global

environment. The global economy in 2019 continued on the path of decelerating expansion that emerged in late 2018 on the back of

skyrocketing geopolitical uncertainty. Persisting trade disputes between the US and China, the twists and turns around Brexit, protests in 

Hong Kong and an increasingly tribal political landscape in the US created an environment tough to navigate for global leaders and 

investors alike. Global trade volumes declined below trend as retaliatory rounds of tariffs were put in place by the US and China, 

especially hitting open, export-oriented economies with a strong manufacturing base. The deceleration in global economic growth was 

therefore mainly concentrated in the manufacturing sector while the services sector remained fairly resilient. As 2019 unfolded, a 

domestic slowdown in China spilled over to the European continent, notably the German economy where Germany’s car industry was 

already facing a difficult transition towards cleaner forms of mobility. As a result, Germany narrowly escaped a technical recession in 

2019. Overall, global activity remained in expansion, with the global growth forecast reaching 2.9% in 2019 (IMF estimate).   

Despite record high levels of geopolitical risk, equity returns have been stellar over 2019, with the MSCI World unhedged in euro

returning 27.5%. It was also one of the best since the financial crisis for fixed-income returns. There was a significant dovish shift in 

Federal Reserve policy, which led to increased demand for both interest-rate and risk markets. Because of the Fed’s pause, followed by 

rate cuts in the second half of the year, the environment remained supportive throughout 2019. Global government bonds (hedged to

euro) returned 4% while at the same time global corporate credit bonds (hedged to euro) returned 8.5%. 
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Report by the manager (continued) 

General introduction (continued) 

Financial market environment (continued) 
Global economic growth disappointed with regard to consensus expectations and slowed from 3.6% in 2018 to a notably lower pace of

3%. Alongside a slowdown in external demand, this softening in global activity was mainly due to a deterioration in global investment 

expenditures, as signs of fading multilateralism and international cooperation weakened CEO confidence to undertake new global 

investment projects. In advanced economies, capital expenditures slowed from 2.6% in 2018 to 1.8% in 2019 (IMF estimate), 

concentrated in the US. In conjunction with lower investment demand, aggregate demand from the consumer side advanced at a lower

rate of growth as well in 2019.

Even as this period of US economic expansion has now become the longest post-WWII, consumption growth has remained significantly

below the average growth rate observed during previous US expansion phases. This is partly due to a significant household deleveraging 

post great financial crisis. Another element is that economic growth has become less inclusive. Especially those with the highest

marginal propensity to spend have missed out on the rising economic tide. US nominal wage growth has picked up to around 3% but

given that the US unemployment rate at 3.5% signals that the US is experiencing the tightest labor market in the past 50 years, this level 

is still subdued. In most advanced economies, employment numbers have increased (though overall at a more modest pace compared to 

2018) and unemployment rates are now close to or at cyclical lows. Household demand remains underpinned by a rising trend in real

disposable incomes, increased housing wealth and generally low interest rates.  

Despite higher import tariffs in some countries, global inflation remained muted. As the global manufacturing slowdown led to higher 

inventory-to-sales ratios, capacity utilization rates came down and as a result core inflation decelerated further below target for many 

advanced economies and emerging markets. In the US, core PCE inflation (which excludes changes in consumer food and energy prices) 

remained at 1.6%, below the symmetrical inflation target of 2% of the Fed. Inflation is increasingly influenced by global factors such as 

global commodity prices, global slack, exchange rates and producer price competition.  

In the UK, the twists and turns in the debate around Brexit continued to be as relentless as they were in 2018, until Boris Johnson 

convincingly won the December general election. The UK Prime Minister showed his intention to move the UK out of the EU by end of 

January 2020 by signing the EU withdrawal bill. He also indicated he would limit the transitional period and not to seek an extension of 

the UK’s transition away from the EU beyond 31 December 2020. Given the challenging timetable the UK government has set itself, the 

UK will likely negotiate a minimum trade deal, concentrating on the trade in goods. As Johnson may opt to remove the self-imposed 31 

December 2020 deadline, the chances of a no-deal ‘hard’ Brexit by the end of 2020 have diminished, but not vanished altogether.   

In China and other emerging markets, weakness in domestic consumer spending dominated the deterioration in external demand. 

Chinese economic growth slowed to 6.1% in 2019. Debt, deleveraging and demographics are three key words influencing China’s 

domestic policy agenda. Policy makers are undertaking a difficult balancing act to keep near-term growth around the 6% target while 

also trying to remove excess leverage (overall non-financial corporate debt is around 250% of GDP) to keep the economy on a 

sustainable longer-term path. China’s rapidly ageing society is also hampering its long-term potential growth.  

Financial Market Environment Q1 2020 
The first quarter of 2020 will be the focus of many future financial history books. Initially, the first weeks of 2020 got off to a promising 

start. The long-anticipated signing of a “phase 1” trade agreement between China and the US took place on January 15th while global 

leading indicators surprised to the upside and confirmed expansion of economic activity. In the second half of January, however, these 

signals of reflation (increasing global growth towards trend level) were completely overshadowed by rising concerns over the outbreak 

of a coronavirus starting in Wuhan, which the WHO eventually named “Covid-19”.  On January 23th, China started a drastic, but 

effective lockdown of the city of Wuhan and other cities in the Hubei area to contain the virus. Still, Covid-19 had already crossed 

borders; the WHO declared Covid-19 a pandemic on March 11th. By March 31st, Covid-19 had exponentially spread to at least 163 

countries with 858,361 people infected, causing 42,309 deaths.  

Many countries followed the example set by China in containing the spread of Covid-19. As a result of increasing lockdowns and social 

distancing measures, the global economy has come to a sudden stop, leaving a global recession inevitable at this juncture. Covid-19 has 

delivered a simultaneous negative supply-as well as demand shock. In addition, social distancing measures aggravate the impact of the 

oil supply glut that erupted after OPEC+ negotiations about oil production cuts failed.  

Leading producer confidence indicators already plummeted in March to 2008 recession lows. Markets now (rightly) infer a Q2 global

GDP collapse not seen in the post-WWII era. Another clue in this direction are the staggering weekly jobless claims numbers (+10

million) in the US. The latest March jobless claims statistic was already exactly 10.0 times the highest number observed during the GFC 

recession.

Earlier in March, the Fed swiftly lowered its conventional policy rate from 1.75% to 0.25% and expanded its balance sheet by almost 

USD 1000 billion by asset purchases and repo agreements. Other central banks also pursued a “whatever it takes” strategy and undertook 

similar measures. Next to central banks, governments have pulled all the stops as well in effort to dampen the economic impact of Covid-

19. The US Congress approved an emergency fiscal stimulus package amounting to 10% of US GDP. In Europe, Germany swiftly 

approved a package worth 4.5% of GDP.  



Robeco QI Institutional Emerging Markets Enhanced Index Equities Fund 7

Report by the manager (continued) 

General introduction (continued) 

Financial Market Environment Q1 2020 (continued) 
As the above dramatic events evolved, financial markets went into a tailspin of unprecedented scale. The S&P500 index peaked on

February 19th before sliding into a bear market at the fastest pace seen since 1929, ending the longest bull market in history that began in 

March 2009. In the enormous market turbulence (a measure of implied equity volatility, the VIX, spiked above the peak level seen

during the Great financial Crisis of 2008), liquidity pressures mounted. Even safe-haven assets like US Treasuries and gold were battered 

initially as investors scrambled for cash. Eventually, haven assets recovered in the second phase of the turmoil as massive liquidity 

injections by central banks eased forced selling pressures.  

Global government bonds (hedged, EUR) generated a positive return of 4.5% in Q1 2020. Riskier fixed income asset classes with equity-

like risk characteristics suffered losses. Global high yield (hedged, EUR) lost 15.1%, whereas global investment grade bonds (hedged, 

EUR) lost 4.6%. Global equities as measured by the MSCI World index (hedged, EUR) lost 20.4% in Q1 2020.    

The first quarter of 2020 has been extraordinary. The exceptional market volatility in this quarter reflects exceptional future macro-

economic volatility. Monetary- and fiscal stimulus is important but solving the health crisis is the key priority for economic recovery. 

The Covid-19 pandemic is still with us at the time of writing this report, though the strenuous efforts undertaken by governments to 

“flatten the curve” are starting to pay off with case fatality rates in most countries decelerating. Together with the massive amount of 

fiscal-and monetary stimulus and policy measures taken (i.e. the lowering of countercyclical buffers for banks to protect the flow of 

credit to the real economy, liquidity assistance for corporates as well as wage subsidies to keep workers employed), some positives for a 

future global economic recovery have arrived at the end of March. 

Outlook for the equity markets 
We are cognizant of the fact that global growth expectations are likely to be revised even lower in light of the prolonged duration of the 

Covid-19 outbreak well into 2020 and recognize that the road to recovery will be a very erratic one and certainly not in a straight line or 

typical V-shape. We do expect a bounce in economic activity from the very depressed levels in the first half of 2020 but we also take 

notion of direct and longer lasting negative second round effects on consumption, employment and business investment despite large-

scale stimulus by central banks and governments.  

Equity investors will need to navigate two-way risk in 2020. On the upside, current equity markets have largely discounted average 

recession risk already. Although it must be noted that historically bear markets tend to last an average of 14 months. Also, the swift and 

massive intervention by central banks and governments provides a powerful counterbalance to the coming economic downturn. If history 

is a guide than equities should enter a trough midway into a recession and rally 25% in the subsequent 12 months.  

Nonetheless, we are not out of the woods yet. An important variable determining the duration and depth of bear markets is the Shiller 

CAPE at the prior market peak. Prior to the Covid-19 pandemic the US was at historically stretched valuation levels. Add to this low 

visibility on the duration of the recession and the subsequent economic recovery path, a state of denial in investor sentiment and limited 

conventional monetary policy space. Therefore, tactical equity investors should remain vigilant as additional downside risk remains. 

However for long term investors, interesting value opportunities in equities are emerging. 

Because of the very rapid developments around the Covid-19 pandemic and its impact on the worldwide economy, we refer to our 

website Robeco.com for the latest updates on our outlook for equity markets. 

Outlook for emerging markets 
We are cognizant of the fact that global growth expectations are likely to be revised even lower in light of the prolonged duration of the 

Covid-19 outbreak well into 2020 and recognize that the road to recovery will be a very erratic one and certainly not in a straight line or 

typical V-shape. We do expect a bounce in economic activity from the very depressed levels in the first half of 2020, but we also take 

notion of direct and longer lasting negative second round effects on consumption, employment and business investment despite large-

scale stimulus by central banks and governments. 

Emerging markets investors will need to navigate two-way risk in 2020. On the upside, current equity markets have largely discounted 

average recession risk already. Also, the swift and massive intervention by central banks and governments provides a powerful 

counterbalance to the coming economic downturn. The economic cycle, however, will differ a lot per region since North Asia went into 

the economic slump earlier than the rest of the world. China, Taiwan and South Korea seem for now to have a good grip on the virus and 

are opening up their economies gradually. On the other part of the spectrum, Latin America, looks to be the biggest victim, as it went 

into the crisis with lower economic growth, weaker institutions and more political instability. Valuations continue to be supportive for 

emerging markets as they still trade at a significant discount to developed markets. 

Because of the very rapid developments around the Covid-19 pandemic and its impact on the worldwide economy, we refer to our 

website Robeco.com for the latest updates on our outlook for equity markets. 
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Report by the manager (continued) 

Investment policy 

Investment objective 
The investment policy of the fund focuses on achieving optimal returns by applying a quantitative stock-selection strategy in emerging 

markets. 

Investment policy 
The Robeco QI Customized Emerging Markets Enhanced Index Equities Fund pursues a bottom-up driven investment strategy to obtain

exposure within a tracking-error budget to the proven return factors of value, quality, momentum and analyst revisions. The objective of 

the fund is to consistently outperform the customized index by means of well-diversified exposure to an integrated multi-factor stock 

selection model. Strong reliance on behavioral finance forms the basis of our investment approach. This features a systematic 

identification and exploitation of market inefficiencies that arise as a result of predictable patterns in the behavior of investors. Our 

integrated risk management research is designed to bring proven factors to a higher level. Generic factors may entail significant risks that 

are often not adequately rewarded, such as a fluctuating exposure to the market beta. We therefore apply integrated risk management 

techniques at the beginning of the process, through the definition of the variables in the stock selection model. Our in-house developed 

portfolio construction algorithm is fully transparent. We use this to obtain the largest possible exposure to the predictive ability of the 

stock selection model and at the same time avoid unnecessary turnover and transaction costs. Compared to the customized index, the

derived portfolio is characterized by attractive valuations, high quality, strong price momentum and positive earnings revisions by 

analysts. 

Implementation of the investment policy 
The fund pursues a strategy which is known as Enhanced Indexing. This strategy uses a quantitative model to determine which index

constituents should be over- or underweighted with respect to their index weight. Sustainability is part of this proprietary model.

Currency policy 
Currency risk is limited by restricting the underweight or overweight for countries to a maximum of 5% of the index. We refer to the 

notes regarding currency risk on page 21 for more detailed quantitative information on currency risk. 

Investment result 

Net result per participating unit 1                 

EUR x 1 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 

Investment income 2 4.65 4.51 4.19 3.86 4.45 

Change in value 23.06 -19.54 26.10 14.79 -15.49 

Management costs, service fee and other costs -0.67 -1.10 -1.12 -0.92 -1.01 

Net result 27.04 -16.13 29.17 17.73 -12.05 

          
1 Based on the average amount of participating units outstanding during the reporting year. The average number of participating units is calculated on a daily basis. 
2 This also includes cancellation and placement fees. 

The Robeco QI institutional Emerging Markets Enhanced Indexing Fund lagged the MSCI Emerging Markets Index. The Value, Quality 

and Analyst Revisions factors had a negative contribution to the relative performance, the Momentum factor had a positive contribution 

to the relative performance. 

Return and risk 
The fund has an ex-ante tracking error limit of 3% annualized. The ex ante tracking error remained stable around 1.2%. The fund aims 

for a beta of 1, which means that the fund has a comparable sensitivity to generally rising markets as the index. The objective of 

enhanced indexing is to achieve better returns than the index while maintaining a limited level of active share. Diversification is essential 

to keep active share levels low. This means that small overweight or underweight positions relative to the index weight have to be taken 

in a large number of stocks. The active share of the strategy has been 30% on average. The volatility of the fund was in-line with the 

volatility of the index. 

Risk management 

A description of the risk management can be found in the notes to the financial statements on pages 19 through 29. 

Movements in net assets 

During the reporting period, the assets of Robeco QI Institutional Emerging Markets Enhanced Index Equities Fund rose by EUR 508.7 

million to EUR 1,742.6 million. This increase can be explained by the following items. On balance, stocks to the amount of EUR 274.2

million were issued. Adding the net result increased these assets by EUR 266.7 million. EUR 32.2 million was distributed in dividend.
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Movements in net assets (continued)

Survey of movements in net assets 

2019

EUR' 000

2018

EUR' 000

Assets at opening date 1,233,917 1,432,437

Participating units issued 381,215 93,433

Participating units purchased (107,080) (116,911)

Situation on closing date 1,508,052 1,408,959

Direct investment income 45,900 40,039

Indirect investment income 227,402 (175,667)

Cancellation and placement fees – 523

Costs (6,584) (9,929)

Net result 266,718 (145,034)

Dividend payments (32,176) (30,008)

Assets at closing date 1,742,594 1,233,917

Remuneration policy 

The fund itself does not employ any personnel and is managed by RIAM. In the Netherlands, persons performing duties for the fund at 

management-board level and portfolio managers are employed by Robeco Nederland B.V. The remuneration for these persons comes out

of the management fee. RIAM’s remuneration policy, that applies to all staff working under RIAM’s responsibility, meets the applicable 

requirements of the European frameworks of the AIFMD, MiFID, the UCITS Directive, the ESMA guidelines on sound  remuneration 

policies under the UCITS Directive, as well as the Dutch Remuneration Policy (Financial Enterprises) Act (Wet beloningsbeleid 

financiële ondernemingen). The remuneration policy has the following objectives: 

a) To stimulate employees to act in our clients’ interests and avoid taking undesirable risks. 

b) To promote a healthy corporate culture, with a strong focus on achieving sustainable results in accordance with the long-term 

objectives of RIAM and its stakeholders. 

c) To attract and retain good employees and to reward talent and performance fairly. 

Responsibility for the remuneration policy 
The Supervisory Board of RIAM supervises the correct application of the remuneration policy and is responsible for the annual 

evaluation. Changes in the remuneration policy have to be approved by the Supervisory Board of RIAM. The Nomination & 

Remuneration Committee of the Supervisory Board of RIAM provides advice to the Supervisory Board of RIAM in the execution of 

these tasks, with the involvement of the HR Department and the relevant internal control officers. In the application and evaluation of the 

remuneration policy, RIAM regularly makes use of the services of various external advisers. The remuneration of fund managers consists 

of a fixed component and a variable component. 

Fixed remuneration 
The fixed salary of each employee is based on his/her role and experience and is in accordance with the RIAM salary ranges, which have 

also been derived from benchmarks in the investment management sector. The fixed salary is deemed to be adequate remuneration for 

the employee to properly execute their responsibilities, regardless of whether the employee receives any variable remuneration.

Variable remuneration 
In accordance with the applicable laws and regulations, the available budget/pool for variable remuneration is approved in advance by 

the Supervisory Board of RIAM based on a proposal made by the Nomination & Remuneration Committee of the Supervisory Board of 

RIAM. The total budget/pool is based, in principle, on a percentage of RIAM's operating result. In order to ensure that the total variable 

remuneration accurately reflects the performance of RIAM and the funds that it manages, when determining the budget/pool, a correction 

is made for risks that may occur in the year concerned and furthermore for multiple-year risks that may affect the risk profile of RIAM. 

The variable remuneration component for the fund managers depends on the multi-year performance of the fund. The system is linked to 

outperformance with regard to risk-adjusted pre-determined annual targets. The calculated outperformance over a one-year, three-year 

and five-year period is taken into account when determining the variable remuneration. Also important in this determination are

behavior, the extent to which team- and individual qualitative and predetermined objectives have been achieved and the extent to which 

Robeco corporate values are observed. The fund manager’s contribution to the various organizational objectives is also taken into

consideration. Poor performance, unethical or non-compliant behavior will reduce individual awards  or can even result in no variable

remuneration being awarded at all. For the senior fund manager, the Identified Staff regime also applies (see below). 
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Remuneration policy (continued) 

Identified Staff 
RIAM has a specific and more stringent remuneration policy for employees who could have a material impact on the risk profile of the 

fund. These employees are designated to be 'Identified Staff'. For 2019, in addition to the Management Board, RIAM has designated 99 

employees as Identified Staff, including all senior portfolio managers, senior management and the heads of the control functions (HR, 

Compliance, Risk Management, Business Control, Internal Audit and Legal). Among other things the performance targets of these 

employees that are used to determine the award of variable pay are subject to additional risk analyses, both prior to the performance year 

and at the end when the results are evaluated. In addition, in all cases at least 70% of the payment of variable remuneration granted to 

these employees will be deferred for a period of four years, and 50% will be converted into instruments (‘Robeco Cash Appreciation 

Rights’)  whose value will follow the company's future results.  

Risk control 
RIAM has implemented additional risk management measures with regard to the variable remuneration. For instance, RIAM has the 

possibility with regard to all employees to reclaim the granted variable remuneration ('claw-back') when this has been based on incorrect 

assumptions, fraudulent acts, serious improper behavior, serious neglect of duties or behavior that has resulted in a considerable loss for 

RIAM. After the granting but before the actual payment of the deferred variable remuneration components to Identified Staff, an

additional assessment is performed to check whether new information would result in decreasing the previously granted remuneration 

components (the so-called ‘malus arrangement’). The malus arrangement can be applied because of (i) misconduct or a serious error of 

judgement on the part of the employee (ii) a considerable deterioration of RIAM's financial results that was not foreseen at the time the 

remuneration was granted (iii) a serious violation of the risk management system, leading to changed circumstances compared with the 

granting of the variable remuneration or (iv) fraud committed by the employee concerned. 

Annual assessment 
RIAM's remuneration policy and the application thereof was evaluated in 2019 under the responsibility of the Supervisory Board of 

RIAM, advised by the Nomination & Remuneration Committee of the Supervisory Board of RIAM. As a result no material changes were

necessary to the remuneration policy. 

Remuneration in 2019 
Of the total amounts granted in remuneration1 in 2019 to the group's Board, Identified Staff and Other Employees, the following amounts 

are to be assigned to the fund: 

Remuneration in EUR x 1         

Staff category Fixed pay for 2019 Variable pay for 2019 

Board (4 members)                    21,897                      25,046  

Identified Staff (99) (ex Board)                  209,661                    139,325  

Other employees (655 employees)                  569,933                    161,253  

The total of the fixed and variable remuneration charged to the fund is EUR 1,127,115. Imputation occurs according to the following 

key: 

Total remuneration (fixed and variable) x 
Total fund assets 

Total assets under management (RIAM) 

The fund itself does not employ any personnel and has therefore not paid any remuneration above EUR 1 million. 

1 The remunerations relate to activities performed for one or more Robeco entities. 

Remuneration manager 
The manager (RIAM) has paid to 3 employees a total remuneration above EUR 1 million. 



Robeco QI Institutional Emerging Markets Enhanced Index Equities Fund 11

Report by the manager (continued) 

Sustainable investing 

Sustainable investing is one of the main pillars of Robeco's strategy and is firmly anchored in our investment convictions. We are 

convinced that including ESG1 factors leads to better investment decisions. We are also convinced that exercising our voting rights and 

engaging in a dialogue with companies have a positive effect on the investment result and society in general. During 2019, we made

every effort to further stimulate Sustainable investing at Robeco and beyond.  

All Robeco’s investment activities comply with the United Nations Principles for Responsible Investing (UNPRI). In 2019, Robeco was 

awarded an A+ for most of the modules that were assessed as part of the UN Principles for Responsible Investment (UNPRI) 2019 

report. This was the sixth year in a row that Robeco obtained the highest score for the majority of the modules assessed by UNPRI. 

Responsibility for implementing Sustainable investing lies with the Head of Investments, who also has a seat on Robeco's Executive

Committee. 

1 ESG is the abbreviation of ‘Environmental, Social and Governance’, which refers to factors relating to the environment, society and corporate governance. 

Focus on stewardship
Fulfilling our responsibilities in the field of stewardship forms an integral part of Robeco's approach to Sustainable investing. A core 

aspect of Robeco's mission is fulfilling our fiduciary duties towards our clients and beneficiaries. Robeco manages investments for a 

variety of clients with different investment needs. We always strive in everything we do to serve our clients interests to the best of our 

ability.  

In our view, the fact that more and more stewardship codes are being introduced around the globe is a positive development, and we are 

strong advocates of active ownership. For this reason we publish our own stewardship policy on our website. This policy describes how 

we deal with possible conflicts of interest, how we monitor the companies in which we invest, how we conduct activities in the field of 

engagement and voting, and how we report on our stewardship activities.  

To mark our strong commitment to stewardship, we have become signatories to many different stewardship codes. In 2018 Eumedion,

the Dutch governance platform for institutional investors, published a Dutch stewardship code. Robeco was a participant in the working 

group that wrote this code. In previous years we became signatories to the stewardship codes of the United Kingdom, Japan and Brazil.

In addition, Robeco a.o. meets the Taiwanese Stewardship Principles for Institutional Investors, the US ISG stewardship principles, the 

Principles for Responsible Ownership in Hong Kong, Singapore Stewardship Principles and the Korean Stewardship Code. 

Contributing to the Sustainable Development Goals
Robeco is a signatory in the Netherlands to the Sustainable Development Goals Investing Agenda. To help our customers contribute to 

the objectives, we worked on analyzing the SDG2 contribution of companies and developing SDG investment solutions. Currently 

multiple solutions are available both in equity and fixed income and the amount of assets that are managed in line with this SDG

methodology is increasing rapidly. 

Furthermore, Robeco contributes to the SDGs by integrating ESG factors in its decision-making process for investments and encourages 

companies to act in support of these goals by means of a constructive dialogue. The SDGs are continually considered during the 

engagement and voting activities. These therefore present the opportunity to emphasize the effect that engagement can have on society. 

Robeco’s Active Ownership team would like new themes to always be directly linked to at least one of the goals. In 2019 we started 

engaging with companies for example on Palm Oil, directly linked to SDG 12 and 15, with a clear objective to improve the Roundtable 

on Sustainable Palm Oil (RSPO) certification and mitigate deforestation. 

2 Sustainable Development Goals 

ESG integration by Robeco
Sustainability can bring about changes in markets, countries and companies in the long  term. And since changes affect future 

performance, ESG factors can in our view add value to our investment process. We therefore look at these factors in the same way as we 

consider a company's financial position or market momentum. We have research available from leading sustainability experts, including 

our sister company RobecoSAM. The dedicated Sustainable Investing research team works together very closely with the investment

teams to provide them with in-depth sustainability information. 

The investment analysis focuses on the most material ESG factors and the connection with the financial performance of a company. We 

can then focus on the most relevant information in performing our investment-analysis and can reach enhanced investment decisions.

Besides integrating ESG, Active Ownership and exclusions into all of our investment processes, in 2019 we continued developing new 

sustainable investment funds with specific sustainable goals and criteria. Furthermore we measured carbon footprints and climate change 

risks in our portfolios in order to gain more insight and create awareness. 
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Report by the manager (continued) 

Sustainable investing (continued) 

Exclusion
Robeco pursues an exclusion policy for companies that are involved in the production of or trade in controversial weapons such as

cluster munition and anti-personnel mines, for tobacco companies and for companies that seriously and habitually violate either the 

United Nations Global Compact (UNGC) or OECD Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises. We apply strict criteria for this last 

category and if a dialogue fails the company will be excluded. Robeco publishes its exclusion policy and the list of exclusions on its 

website. In 2019 Robeco developed a palm oil policy. Robeco considers the production of palm oil a process with significant 

environmental and social risks, leading to breaches of the UN Global Compact when this product is not produced sustainably. Listed

companies that have less than 20% of their plantations certified to sustainability standards are excluded from fund investments. Other 

palm oil producing companies are part of an engagement program where Robeco requires them to make progress towards full RSPO 

certification and addresses potential controversies and breaches of the UN Global compact. 

Active ownership 
Constructive and effective activities under active ownership encourage companies to improve their management of risks and 

opportunities in the field of ESG. This in turn establishes a better competitive position and improved profitability and moreover has a 

positive impact on the community. Active ownership involves voting and engagement. Robeco exercises its voting rights for the shares 

in its investment funds all over the world. In addition, Robeco enters into an active dialogue with the companies in which it invests on 

questions concerning the environment, society and corporate governance. In 2019, our activities towards achieving active ownership 

were again awarded high scores under the Principles for Responsible Investment (PRI). Robeco has Active Ownership specialists in both 

Rotterdam and Hong Kong. In 2019 Robeco engaged with over 220 companies on different issues ranging from corporate governance to

data privacy to climate change. The primary focus of this engagement is to address strategic ESG issues that might affect value creation 

in the long term. Hereafter, two 2019 case studies are provided to illustrate Robeco’s approach towards fulfilling our stewardship 

responsibilities. 

Robeco’s Active Ownership successful in engagement with the Auto Industry  

In the engagement theme ESG Challenges in the Auto Industry key elements of discussion included the alignment of companies’ 

strategies with a low-carbon future, including their ability to comply with emissions standards, and the need to focus on innovation and 

to finetune product development to make sure their future products meet client demand and regulatory requirements. Our success with a 

German carmaker is unique in a sector that struggles with the transition to a low-carbon economy. 

During a three-year engagement, the German automotive company announced its ambition to achieve net-zero emissions fleet by 2039,

and committed to carbon-neutral energy supply by 2022 in line with our request. In addition, the company is the first carmaker to tie 

quantitative metrics on sustainable mobility in the executive renumeration policy. Overall, the company’s net-zero fleet commitment is 

considered best practice in the industry.  

The engagement has taken place in collaboration with Transition Pathway Initiative (TPI) and the Institutional Investors Group on

Climate Change (IIGCC), of which Robeco co-ordinates the Advisory Committee on automotives.  

The model the company has followed is similar to the earlier success booked by Robeco’s Active Ownership team with Royal Dutch 

Shell, the first company to link climate targets to executive renumeration.  

Leading the financial sector in Palm Oil Engagement  

Early 2019, Robeco has stepped up engagement with the producers of palm oil to address sustainability issues in the industry. As a 

responsible investor, Robeco has been engaging with palm oil producers, traders and buyers on sustainability-related issues since 2010. 

Palm oil is a vital commodity that is an essential ingredient in many consumer goods, from chocolates to shampoo. As the most land-

efficient and versatile vegetable oil, its cultivation as a cash crop is highly profitable. 

However, the industry continues to face significant problems related to deforestation, its large carbon footprint, and labor standards in 

emerging markets. Robeco’s new approach to address these problems is a combination of enhanced engagement and sustainability 

investing methodology. 

With enhanced engagement, we formulate minimum standards that companies need to meet after three years of engagement to ensure 

eligibility in our investment universe. For the methodology, Robeco now conducts a sector screen that benchmarks companies according 

to the amount of land that has been certified by the RSPO, a not-for-profit group that Robeco joined in January as the first investor.  

Robeco plays an active role in multiple collaborations regarding palm oil, strongly believing in the premise that we are stronger together. 

Within the RSPO, Robeco is member of the Financial Institutions working group, the deforestation group as well as member of the

Complaints Panel. Within the PRI Robeco is part of the advisory committee of the Engagement working groups related to Deforestation,

Labor Standards in Agricultural supply chain, and Palm Oil. Last, Robeco joined the Sustainable Palm Oil Choice to contribute to the 

transition to 100% sustainable palm oil in Europe. 
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Sustainable investing (continued) 

Voting
In 1998, Robeco started voting for its investment funds and on behalf of its institutional clients. The votes are cast by specialized voting 

analysts in the Active Ownership team. We attend several shareholder meetings ourselves, but in most cases we cast our votes 

electronically. Our voting activities are published shortly after the shareholders’ meetings on our website, in line with best practice 

regarding voting transparency.  

Our extensive voting policy is based on 20 years of experience and insight, and we anticipate the specific policy requests of our 

mandates if necessary. We vote at all meetings where this is possible. In practice, we only refrain from voting in the event of share 

blocking. In such cases, we assess the importance of the meeting and the influence of our positions on the voting.  

Our voting policy and our analysis are based on the internationally accepted principles of the International Corporate Governance 

Network (ICGN) and on local directives. These principles constitute an extensive framework for assessing the corporate governance

practices of companies. They also provide sufficient latitude for companies to be assessed on the basis of local standards, national 

legislation and codes of conduct for corporate governance. In our assessment we take into account company-specific circumstances.  

Important decisions are taken in close consultation with the portfolio managers and the analysts in Robeco's investment teams and with 

our engagement specialists. The information we receive during shareholders’ meetings is taken into account in our engagement activities

and in the investment process followed by the Robeco funds. 

We voted at 804 shareholder meetings on behalf of Robeco QI Institutional Emerging Markets Enhanced Index Equities Fund. At 466

(58%) of the 804 meetings, we cast at least 1 vote not in line with management's recommendation. 

Engagement
Since as early as 2005, we have encouraged management board members from the companies in which we invest to practice good 

corporate governance and to strive to achieve an environmentally and socially friendly policy. The aim of our engagement is to increase

shareholder value in the long term and to achieve a positive impact on society. For Robeco, engagement and voting are important

elements for achieving a successful integrated strategy for Sustainable investing that will lead to enhanced investment decisions and can 

improve the risk/return profile of our portfolios.  

For our engagement activities we use a focused approach in which we enter into a constructive dialogue with a relevant selection of 

companies in which we invest. This dialogue deals with ESG factors such as quality of management, human rights and management of

environmental risks. We differentiate between two types of engagement: the proactive Value Engagement approach and the Enhanced

Engagement approach following a violation of the principles of the UN Global Compact and OECD Guidelines for Multinational 

Enterprises.  

Our Value Engagement activities focus on a small number of sustainability themes with the greatest potential for value creation for the 

companies in which we invest. We select these themes on the basis of financial materiality by carrying out a baseline measurement and 

formulating engagement profiles for the companies we enter into  a dialogue with. We select new engagement themes in  close 

consultation with engagement specialists, portfolio managers and analysts, who work together closely throughout the dialogue. We give 

priority to companies in Robeco's portfolios with the greatest exposure to the selected engagement theme.  

Our Enhanced Engagement program focuses on companies whose actions conflict seriously and systematically with the principles of the 

United Nations Global Compact (UNGC) in the field of human rights, labor, the environment and anti-corruption and OECD Guidelines

for Multinational Enterprises. With this program we try to exert an influence on these companies to persuade them to act in accordance 

with the UNGC principles and OECD Guidelines. Our engagement normally lasts three years, during which time we hold regular 

meetings and conference calls with representatives from the company and monitor progress made on the engagement objectives.  

If an Enhanced Engagement dialogue does not lead to the desired result, Robeco can exclude this company from Robeco's investment

universe. The Enhanced Engagement process is a formal part of Robeco's exclusion policy.  

For Robeco QI Institutional Emerging Markets Enhanced Index Equities Fund, we entered into a dialogue with 37 companies, involving 

31 Value Engagements and 6 Enhanced Engagements. 

Integration of ESG factors in investment processes 
Integration of ESG information leads to better-informed investment decisions and contributes positively to society. The way in which 

Robeco integrates sustainability data in its investment process is designed specifically for the features of each investment strategy. Our 

quantitative equity strategies use the ESG scores of companies. These scores are based on the information collected using the proprietary 

questionnaires developed by RobecoSAM. 
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Sustainable investing (continued) 

Integration of ESG factors in investment processes (continued) 
ESG factors, are integrated in both the stock selection model and the portfolio construction process. First of all, we decarbonize the value 

factor, which means we reduce its footprint, without reducing its performance, next to that, we incorporate sustainability scores as part of 

a group of quality factors. As a result, stocks of companies that have a high sustainability score have a higher probability of being 

included in the portfolio compared to stocks of companies that score low on sustainability. Second, the strategy aims for a higher

aggregate sustainability score for the Enhanced Indexing portfolio versus the respective score of the index. Quantitative researchers and 

portfolio managers constantly work on the ongoing evaluation and improvement of this stock selection model. 

Rotterdam, 15 May 2020 

The Manager  
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Annual financial statements 

Balance sheet 

Before profit appropriation                                                                                                  Notes

31/12/2019

EUR' 000

31/12/2018

EUR' 000

ASSETS 

Investments 

Equities 1 1,662,901 1,218,541

Investments in funds of the Robeco Group 2 69,831 8,569

Derivatives 3 60 –

Total investments 1,732,792 1,227,110

Accounts receivable 

Receivables on securities transactions  466 15

Dividends receivable 4 4,787 3,897

Interest receivable  3 3

Other receivables, prepayments and accrued income 5 1,297 1,539

Total accounts receivable 6,553 5,454

Other assets 

Cash and cash equivalents 6 6,087 3,375

LIABILITIES 

Investments 

Derivatives 3 – 20

Accounts payable 

Payable to credit institutions 7 373 –

Payable to affiliated parties 8 1,670 1,850

Other liabilities, accruals and deferred income 9 795 152

Total accounts payable 2,838 2,002

Accounts receivable and other assets less accounts payable 9,802 6,827

Assets less liabilities 1,742,594 1,233,917

Composition of fund assets 10, 11 

Participants capital 10 1,336,441 1,062,306

General reserve 10 139,435 316,645

Undistributed earnings 10 266,718 (145,034)

Fund assets 1,742,594 1,233,917

The numbers of the items in the financial statements refer to the numbers in the Notes. 
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Annual financial statements (continued) 

Profit and loss account 

Notes

2019

EUR' 000

2018

EUR' 000

Investment income 12 45,900 40,039

Unrealized gains 1, 2, 3 297,136 129,601

Unrealized losses 1, 2, 3 (67,963) (325,200)

Realized gains 1, 2, 3 81,820 99,384

Realized losses 1, 2, 3 (83,591) (79,452)

Cancellation and placement fees  – 523

Total operating income 273,302 (135,105)

Costs 16, 17 – –

Management fee 13 6,019 9,142

Other costs 15 565 787

Total operating expenses 6,584 9,929

Net result 266,718 (145,034)

The numbers of the items in the financial statements refer to the numbers in the Notes. 
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Annual financial statements (continued) 

Cash flow statement 

Notes

2019

EUR' 000

2018

EUR' 000

Cash flow from investment activities 

Net result 266,718 (145,034)

Unrealized changes in value 1, 2, 3 (229,173) 195,599

Realized changes in value 1, 2, 3 1,771 (19,932)

Purchase of investments 1, 2, 3 (875,674) (542,387)

Sale of investments 1, 2, 3 597,408 565,824

Increase (-)/decrease (+) accounts receivable 4, 5 (1,117) 134

Increase (+)/decrease (-) accounts payable 8, 9 (122) (546)

(240,189) 53,658

Cash flow from financing activities 

Received for units subscribed  381,215 93,433

Paid for repurchase of own units  (107,080) (116,911)

Dividend paid  (32,176) (30,008)

Increase (-)/decrease (+) accounts receivable 5 18 (18)

Increase (+)/decrease (-) accounts payable 9 585 1

242,562 (53,503)

Net cash flow 2,373 155

Currency and cash revaluation  (34) 405

Increase (+)/decrease (-) cash 2,339 560

– –

Cash at opening date 6 3,375 3,361

Accounts payable to credit institutions at opening date 7 – (546)

Total cash at opening date 3,375 2,815

– –

Cash at closing date 6 6,087 3,375

Accounts payable to credit institutions at closing date 7 (373) –

Total cash at closing date 5,714 3,375

The numbers of the items in the financial statements refer to the numbers in the Notes. 



Robeco QI Institutional Emerging Markets Enhanced Index Equities Fund 18

Notes

General 

The annual financial statements have been drawn up in conformity with Part 9, Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code and the Wft. The fund’s

financial year is the same as the calendar year.

Accounting principles 

General 
The financial statements are produced according to the going concern assumption. Unless stated otherwise, items shown in the financial

statements are stated at nominal value and expressed in thousands of euros. Assets and liabilities are recognized or derecognized in the 

balance sheet on the transaction date.

Financial investments 
Financial investments are classified as trading portfolio and are valued at fair value, unless stated otherwise. The fair value of stocks is 

determined on the basis of market prices and other market quotations at closing date. For derivatives and futures, the value is based on 

the market price and other market quotations at closing date. Transaction costs incurred in the purchase and sale of investments are 

included in the purchase or sale price as appropriate. Transaction costs incurred in the purchase of investments are therefore recognized 

in the first period of valuation as part of the value changes in the profit and loss account. Transaction costs incurred in the sale of 

investments are part of the realized results in the profit and loss account. Derivative instruments with a negative fair value are recognized 

under the derivatives item under investments on the liability side of the balance sheet.

Recognition and derecognition of items in the balance sheet 
Investments are recognized or derecognized in the balance sheet on the transaction date. Equities and derivatives are recognized in the 

balance sheet on the date the purchase transaction is concluded. Equities are derecognized in the balance sheet on the date the sale 

transaction is concluded. Derivatives are fully or partially derecognized in the balance sheet on the date the sales transaction is concluded 

or if the contract is settled on the expiry date. Accounts receivable and payable are recognized in the balance sheet on the date that 

contractual rights or obligations with respect to the receivables or payables arise. Receivables and payables are derecognized in the 

balance sheet when, as a result of a transaction, the contractual rights or obligations with respect to the receivables or payables no longer 

exist.

Presentation of derivatives 
Derivatives are recognized in the balance sheet at fair value. The presentation of the fair value is based on the liabilities and receivables 

per contract. The receivables are reported under assets and obligations are reported under liabilities. The value of the derivatives’ 

underlying instruments is not included on the balance sheet. Where applicable, the underlying value of derivatives is included in the 

information provided on the currency and concentration risk.

Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents are carried at nominal value. If cash is not freely disposable, this is factored into the valuation.

Cash expressed in foreign currencies is converted into the functional currency as at the balance sheet date at the exchange rate applicable 

on that day. Please refer to the currency table on page 37.

Accounts receivable 
Receivables are valued after initial recognition at amortized cost based on the effective interest method, less impairments. Given the 

short-term character of the receivables, the value is equal to the nominal value.

Debt 
Non-current debts and other financial obligations are valued, after initial recognition, at the amortized cost price based on the effective 

interest method. Given the short-term character of the debt, the value is equal to the nominal value.

Foreign currencies 
Transactions in currencies other than the euro are converted into euros at the exchange rates valid at the time. Assets and liabilities

expressed in other currencies are converted into euros at the exchange rate prevailing at balance-sheet date. The exchange rate

differences thus arising or exchange rate differences arising on settlement are recognized in the profit and loss account. Investments in 

foreign currencies are converted into euros at the rate prevailing on the balance sheet date. This valuation is part of the valuation at fair 

value. Exchange rate differences are recognized in the profit and loss account under changes in value.
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Notes (continued) 

Accounting principles (continued) 

Securities lending 
Investments for which the legal ownership has been transferred by the fund for a given period of time as a result of securities-lending 

transactions, will continue to be included in the fund’s Balance sheet during this period, since their economic advantages and 

disadvantages, in the form of investment income and changes in value, will be added to or deducted from the fund’s result. The way in 

which collateral ensuing from securities-lending transactions is reported depends on the nature of this collateral. If the collateral is 

received in the form of investments these are not recognized in the balance sheet as the economic advantages and disadvantages relating 

to the collateral will be for the account and risk of the counterparty. If the collateral is received in cash it will be recognized in the 

balance sheet as in this case the economic advantages and disadvantages will be for the account and risk of the fund.

Principles for determining the result 

General 
Investment results are determined by investment income, rises or declines in stock prices, rises or declines in foreign exchange rates and 

results of transactions in currencies, including forward transactions and other derivatives. Results are allocated to the period to which 

they relate and are accounted for in the profit and loss account.

Recognition of income 
Income items are recognized in the profit and loss account when an increase of the economic potential associated with an increase of an 

asset or a reduction of a liability has occurred and the amount of this can be reliably established. 

Recognition of expenses
Expense items are recognized when a reduction of the economic potential associated with a reduction of an asset or an increase of a 

liability has occurred and the amount of this can be reliably established. 

Investment income 
This includes the net cash dividends declared during the year under review, the nominal value of stock dividends declared, interest 

received and paid and proceeds. Accrued interest at balance sheet date is taken into account.

Payment for deposits and withdrawals 
The manager can charge a fee on entry or extension and on – partial – termination to cover the associated transaction costs to be 

deducted from the purchase resp. sales value. These fees, expressed as a percentage of the purchase resp. sales value, accrue to the fund 

and are processed in the profit and loss account. The fee thus determined can be requested from the manager.

Changes in value 
Realized and unrealized capital gains and losses on securities and currencies are presented under this heading. Realization of capital

gains takes place on selling as the difference between the realizable sales value and the average historical cost price. Unrealized capital 

gains relate to value changes in the portfolio between the beginning of the financial year and the balance sheet date, corrected by the 

realized gains when positions are sold or settlement takes place.

Principles for cash flow statement 

General 
This cash flow statement has been prepared using the indirect method. Cash comprises items that may or may not be directly callable.

Accounts payable to credit institutions include debit balances in bank accounts.

Risk management 

The presence of risks is inherent to asset management. It is therefore very important to have a procedure for controlling these risks 

embedded in the company's day-to-day operations. The manager (RIAM) ensures that risks are effectively controlled via the three-lines-

of-defense model: RIAM management (first line), the Compliance and Risk Management departments (second line) and the Internal 

Audit department (third line).
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Notes (continued) 

Risk management (continued)

The management of RIAM has primary responsibility for risk management as part of its day-to-day activities. The Compliance and Risk 

Management departments develop and maintain policy, methods and systems that enable the management to fulfill their responsibilities

relating to risk. Furthermore, portfolios are monitored by these departments to ensure that they remain within the investment restrictions 

under the Terms and Conditions for Management and Custody and the information memorandum, and to establish whether they comply 

with the internal guidelines. The Risk Management Committee decides how the risk management policies are applied and monitors 

whether risks remain within the defined limits. The Internal Audit department carries out audits to assess the effectiveness of internal 

control.

RIAM uses a risk-management and control framework that helps control all types of risk. Within this framework, risks are periodically 

identified and assessed as to their significance and materiality. Internal procedures and measures are focused on providing a structure to 

control both financial and operational risks. Control measures are included in the framework for each risk. Active monitoring is

performed to establish the effectiveness of the procedures and measures of this framework.

Operational risk 
Operational risk is the risk of loss as a result of inadequate or failing processes, people or systems. Robeco constantly seeks opportunities 

to simplify processes and reduce complexity in order to mitigate operational risks. Automation is a key resource in this regard and uses 

systems that can be seen as the market standard for financial institutions. The use of automation increases the risk associated with IT. 

This risk can be divided into three categories. The risk of access by unauthorized persons is managed using preventive and detective 

measures to control access to both the network and systems and data. Processes such as change management and operational 

management provide for monitoring of an operating system landscape. Finally, business continuity measures are in place to limit the risk 

of breakdown as far as possible and to recover operational status as quickly as possible in the event of a disaster. The effectiveness of 

these measures is tested periodically by means of internal and external monitoring.

Compliance risk 
Compliance risk is the risk of sanctions, financial loss or reputation damage as a result of non-compliance with the laws and regulations 

applicable to the activities of Robeco and the funds it manages. Robeco's activities – collective and individual portfolio management – 

are subject to European and national rules of financial supervision. Observance of these rules is supervised by the national competent 

authorities (in the Netherlands the Authority for the Financial Markets, AFM and the Central Bank of the Netherlands, DNB). It is in the 

interest of investors in Robeco-managed funds that Robeco complies with all the applicable laws and regulations. Robeco has 

implemented a meticulous process with clear responsibilities in order to ensure that new laws and regulations are reported and 

implemented in a timely fashion. 

Changes in the field of legislation and regulation that could affect the funds managed by Robeco also took place in 2019. An example of 

this is the amended Shareholder Rights Directive (SRD II), which applies as of 10 June 2019. SRD II requires institutional investors and 

asset managers to develop a policy on shareholder engagement and to disclose their voting and engagement policies in relation to its 

strategies covering EU listed equities. Necessary changes to Robeco’s existing policies on these topics have been implemented in a 

timely manner. Mandatory disclosures on these topics have been enhanced as well and these were made easily accessible to clients.  

Robeco also ensured that its policies and procedures related to the prevention of use of the financial system for money laundering and the 

financing of terrorism continue to be adequately designed. In 2019 policies and procedures were amended to reflect the requirements of 

the Fifth Anti-Money Laundering Directive (5th AMLD). The amended Directive has introduced the obligation for Robeco to publicly

register the ultimate beneficial owners (‘UBOs’) of all its corporate entities and funds. For entities and funds domiciled in The 

Netherlands, necessary preparations have been made so that registrations can be made as soon as the UBO register is put into use. In 

addition, solid enhanced due diligence measures with respect to business relationships and transactions involving high risk countries

were implemented in accordance with the 5th AMLD.  

On 17 June 2019 EMIR Refit entered into force, amending the existing EMIR rules with the objective to simplify and increase the

efficiency of some of its requirements and to reduce disproportionate costs and burdens. The core EMIR requirements – clearing, margin 

requirements, derivative transaction reporting, operational risk mitigation requirements and requirements for trade repositories/CCPs – 

remain unchanged. For Robeco, the implementation of EMIR Refit in particular related to the introduction of a new category of financial 

counterparty known as the small financial counterparty (SFC). Such SFC - whose OTC derivatives positions do not exceed any of the

clearing thresholds - can under certain circumstances be exempted from the clearing obligation under EMIR. Robeco has decided not to 

benefit from such exemption and will continue clearing of the relevant instruments for all its funds. 
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Notes (continued) 

Risk management (continued) 

Developments Financial Risk Management 
Robeco is continuously working to enhance its risk management methodologies, infrastructure and processes.  

Over the past year, Financial Risk Management (FRM) continued with the modeling of climate risks and the integration of climate

models in the risk management framework and risk management systems. These models aim to incorporate both current carbon 

emissions as well as forward looking based elements, such as investments in carbon footprint reduction. These analyses are done based 

on RobecoSAM data. In addition, FRM is collaborating with its risk management system vendor to further complement the framework

with physical climate risks assets are exposed to, such as the risk of flooding, extreme heat waves or droughts. 

FRM has successfully enhanced and implemented tooling to conduct style factor analysis based on Barra factors. The results of these 

analyses and the climate risk results are both used in portfolio risk deep dive sessions with portfolio management.  

Securities lending is transferred to JPMorgan as the new lending agent. In 2019 risk management integrated securities lending data 

(collateral, securities) in the Robeco collateral management systems to have an integrated view on counterparty exposures.  

During the year several projects took place in which FRM participated. This included enhancement of the Model Risk Management, 

Brexit and a transition towards new benchmark rates (IBOR). 

Risks relating to financial instruments 

Investment risk 
The value of investments may fluctuate. Past performance is no guarantee of future results. The net asset value of the fund depends on 

developments in the financial markets and can therefore either rise or fall. Shareholders run the risk that their investments may end up 

being worth less than the amount invested, or even worth nothing. The general investment risk can also be characterized as market risk.

Market risk 
Market risk can be divided into three types: price risk, currency risk and concentration risk. Market risks are contained using limits on 

quantitative risk measures such as tracking error, volatility or value-at-risk. This means that the underlying risk types (price risk, 

currency risk and concentration risk) are also indirectly contained.

Price risk 
The net asset value of the fund is sensitive to market movements. In addition, investors should be aware of the possibility that the value 

of investments may vary as a result of changes in political, economic or market circumstances, as well as changes in an individual 

business situation. The entire portfolio is exposed to price risk. The degree of price risk that the fund runs depends among other things on 

the risk profile of the fund's portfolio. More detailed information on the risk profile of the fund's portfolio can be found in the section on 

Implementation of the investment policy on page 8.

Currency risk 
All or part of the securities portfolio of the fund may be invested in currencies, or financial instruments denominated in currencies other 

than the euro. As a result, fluctuations in exchange rates may have both a negative and a positive effect on the investment result of the 

fund. Currency risks may be hedged with currency forward transactions and currency options. Currency risks can be limited by applying 

relative or absolute currency concentration limits.



Robeco QI Institutional Emerging Markets Enhanced Index Equities Fund 22

Notes (continued) 

Risks relating to financial instruments (continued) 

Market risk (continued) 

Currency risk (continued)
As at the balance sheet date, there were no positions in currency forwards contracts.

The table below shows the gross and net exposure to the various currencies, including cash, receivables and debts. Further information 

on the currency policy can be found on page 8.

Currency exposure 

31/12/2019

Gross position

EUR' 000

31/12/2019

Net position 

EUR' 000

31/12/2019

% of

net assets

31/12/2018

% of

net assets

AED 6,915 6,915 0.40 0.46

BRL 63,823 63,823 3.66 2.85

CLP 3,655 3,655 0.21 0.94

COP 3,558 3,558 0.20 0.16

CZK 2,343 2,343 0.13 0.19

EGP 1,268 1,268 0.07 0.06

EUR 74,425 74,425 4.27 0.97

HKD 378,784 378,784 21.74 24.88

HUF 5,107 5,107 0.29 0.35

IDR 28,555 28,555 1.64 2.06

INR 120,049 120,049 6.89 8.36

KRW 209,164 209,164 12.00 13.99

MXN 29,291 29,291 1.68 1.62

MYR 33,295 33,295 1.91 2.38

PHP 13,531 13,531 0.78 1.11

PLN 20,645 20,645 1.18 1.57

QAR 12,130 12,130 0.70 1.11

SAR 42,457 42,457 2.44 –

THB 46,976 46,976 2.70 2.09

TRY 13,189 13,189 0.76 0.39

TWD 203,998 203,998 11.71 11.66

USD 340,506 340,506 19.54 16.63

ZAR 88,930 88,930 5.10 6.17

Total 1,742,594 1,742,594 100.00 100.00

Concentration risk 
Based on its investment policy, the fund may invest in financial instruments from issuing institutions that operate mainly within the same 

sector or region, or in the same market. In the case of concentrated investment portfolios, events within the sectors, regions or markets in 

which they invest have a more pronounced effect on the fund assets than in less concentrated investment portfolios. Concentration risks 

can be limited by applying relative or absolute country or sector concentration limits.
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Risks relating to financial instruments (continued) 

Market risk (continued) 

Concentration risk (continued)
The portfolio includes positions in stock market index futures at balance sheet date.

The table below shows the exposure to stock markets through stocks and stock-market index futures per country in amounts and as a 

percentage of the fund's total equity capital. 

Concentration risk by country 

31/12/2019 31/12/2019 31/12/2018

Equities

EUR' 000

Exposure to 

stock index 

futures

EUR' 000

Total

exposure

EUR' 000

% of

net assets

% of

net assets

Argentina 1,492 – 1,492 0.09 –

Bermuda 9,312 – 9,312 0.52 0.93

Brazil 126,529 – 126,529 7.29 7.63

Cayman Islands 292,370 – 292,370 16.77 13.67

Chile 11,730 – 11,730 0.68 1.25

China 174,329 – 174,329 9.98 11.27

Colombia 6,792 – 6,792 0.40 0.35

Czech Republic 2,332 – 2,332 0.14 0.19

Egypt 1,836 – 1,836 0.10 0.09

Greece 5,632 – 5,632 0.33 0.33

Hong Kong 50,473 – 50,473 2.89 4.16

Hungary 5,106 – 5,106 0.29 0.35

India 145,589 – 145,589 8.36 9.20

Indonesia 28,928 – 28,928 1.65 2.06

Isle of Man 1,045 – 1,045 0.06 0.06

Luxembourg 72,937 – 72,937 4.19 0.70

Malaysia 33,287 – 33,287 1.91 2.37

Mexico 43,473 – 43,473 2.50 2.65

Netherlands 1,206 – 1,206 0.07 –

Peru 817 – 817 0.05 0.07

Philippines 12,793 – 12,793 0.74 1.11

Poland 17,398 – 17,398 1.00 1.56

Qatar 12,130 – 12,130 0.70 1.11

Russia 66,585 – 66,585 3.82 3.41

Saudi Arabia 42,457 – 42,457 2.43 –

Singapore – – – – 0.03

South Africa 87,283 – 87,283 4.99 6.11

South Korea 207,558 – 207,558 11.92 13.97

Taiwan 197,738 – 197,738 11.36 11.58

Thailand 46,800 – 46,800 2.68 2.09

Turkey 13,189 – 13,189 0.75 0.39

United Arab Emirates 7,483 – 7,483 0.42 0.45

United States of America 6,103 601 6,163 0.35 0.31

Total 1,732,732 60 1,732,792 99.43 99.45

1 Index futures that cover multiple countries are listed under the country where the futures are traded. 

All outstanding futures have a remaining term of less than three months.
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Risks relating to financial instruments (continued) 

Market risk (continued) 

Concentration risk (continued)
The sector concentrations are shown below.

Concentration risk by sector 

31/12/2019 31/12/2018

% of net assets % of net assets

Communication Services 11.12 13.51

Consumer Discretionary 13.29 9.42

Consumer Staples 4.80 5.64

Energy 8.10 8.87

Financials 23.82 25.09

Health Care 1.47 1.79

Industrials 3.98 5.11

Information Technology 15.98 14.80

Investment Funds 4.01 0.70

Materials 6.16 8.25

Real Estate 3.70 2.63

Utilities 3.00 3.64

Other assets and liabilities 0.57 0.55

Total 100.00 100.00

Leverage risk 
The fund may make use of derivative instruments, techniques or structures. They may be used for hedging risks, and for achieving

investment objectives and ensuring efficient portfolio management. These instruments may be leveraged, which will increase the fund’s

sensitivity to market fluctuations. The risk of derivative instruments, techniques or structures will always be limited within the conditions 

of the fund's integral risk management. The degree of leveraged financing in the fund, measured using the gross method (where 0%

exposure indicates no leveraged financing) over the year, as well as on the balance sheet date, is shown in the table below. The gross 

method means that the absolute underlying value of the long positions and the short positions in derivatives are added up and represented 

as a percentage of the assets.

Lowest

exposure

during the

reporting year

Highest

exposure

during the 

reporting year

Average

exposure

during the

reporting year

Exposure at

the reporting

year end

Robeco QI Institutional Emerging Markets 

Enhanced Index Equities Fund 0% 8% 2% 1%

Counterparty risk 
Counterparty risk is an unintentional form of risk that is a consequence of the investment policy. It occurs when a counterparty of the 

fund fails to fulfil its financial obligations arising from financial transactions with the fund. Counterparty risk is limited as far as possible 

by exercising an appropriate degree of caution in the selection of counterparties. In selecting counterparties, the assessments of 

independent rating bureaus are taken into account, as are other relevant indicators. Wherever it is customary in the market, the fund will 

demand and obtain collateral in order to mitigate counterparty risk. The figure that best represents the maximum credit risk is given in 

the table below. 

31/12/2019  31/12/2018  

EUR' 000

% of

net assets EUR' 000

% of

net assets

Unrealized gain on derivatives 60 – – –

Accounts receivable 6,553 0.38 5,454 0.44

Cash and cash equivalents 6,087 0.35 3,375 0.28

Total 12,700 0.73 8,829 0.72
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Notes (continued) 

Risks relating to financial instruments (continued) 

Counterparty risk (continued)
No account is taken of collateral received in the calculation of the total credit risk. Counterparty risk is contained by applying limits on 

the exposure per counterparty as a percentage of the fund assets. As at the balance sheet date there were no counterparties with an 

exposure of more than 5% of the fund's total assets.

Risk of lending financial instruments 
In the case of securities-lending transactions, collateral is requested and obtained for those financial instruments that are lent. In the case 

of securities-lending transactions, the fund incurs a specific type of counterparty risk that the borrower cannot comply with the obligation 

to return the financial instruments on the agreed date or to furnish the requested collateral. The lending policy of the fund is designed to 

control these risks as much as possible. To mitigate specific counterparty risk, the fund receives collateral prior to lending the financial 

instruments.

The creditworthiness of counterparties in securities-lending transactions is assessed on the basis of how independent rating agencies 

regard their short-term creditworthiness and on the basis of their net assets. Guarantees given by parent companies are also taken into 

account.

The fund accepts collateral in the form of:

    –   government bonds with a minimum investment grade1 credit rating;

    –   bonds of supranational bodies with a minimum investment grade1 credit rating;

    –   stocks listed on the main indexes of stock markets in OECD countries;

    –   stocks listed on the main indexes of stock markets in non-OECD countries;

    –   cash.

1 Credit rating designations BBB or above are considered investment grade.

In addition, concentration limits are applied to collateral to restrict concentration risks in the collateral and there are also liquidity criteria 

for containing the liquidity risks in the collateral. Finally, depending on the type of lending transaction and the type of collateral, 

collateral with a premium is requested relative to the value of the lending transaction. This limits the negative effects of price risks in the 

collateral.

The table below gives an overview of the positions lent out as a percentage of the portfolio (total of the instruments lent out) and relative 

to the fund's assets.

Positions lent out 

31/12/2019 31/12/2018 

Type of instrument 

Amount in

EUR' 000

% of

portfolio

% of

net assets

Amount in

EUR' 000

% of

portfolio

% of

net assets

Shares lent out 59,898 3.46 3.44 78,699 6.46 6.38

Total 59,898 3.46 3.44 78,699 6.46 6.38
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Risks relating to financial instruments (continued) 

Risk of lending financial instruments (continued)
The following table gives an overview of the positions lent out and the collateral received per counterparty.

All outstanding lending transactions are transactions with an open-ended term. That means that there is no prior agreement as to how 

long the securities are lent out and when they may be reclaimed by the fund if required.

Counterparties       

   31/12/2019 31/12/2018 

Domicile of

counterparty 

Manner of 

settlement 

and clearing 

Positions lent 

out

EUR' 000

Collateral

received 

EUR' 000

Positions lent 

out

EUR' 000

Collateral

received 

EUR' 000

Barclays United Kingdom Tripartite1 5,459 5,789 – –

BNP Paribas France Tripartite1 3,758 4,087 – –

Citibank United States Tripartite1 893 988 4,669 5,055

Credit Suisse Switzerland Tripartite1 13,495 14,495 1,359 1,477

Deutsche Bank Germany Tripartite1 242 265 30,597 34,066

Goldman Sachs United States Tripartite1 1,554 1,670 – –

HSBC Great Britain Tripartite1 1,669 2,020 2,683 2,981

J.P. Morgan United States Tripartite1 13,172 14,271 10,373 11,346

Morgan Stanley United States Tripartite1 2,211 2,389 7,612 8,370

Société Générale France Tripartite1 – – 112 124

UBS Switzerland Tripartite1 17,445 19,420 21,294 23,575

Total   59,898 65,394 78,699 86,994

1 Tripartite means that the collateral is in the custody of an independent third party.

This collateral is not included on the balance sheet. 
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Risks relating to financial instruments (continued) 

Risk of lending financial instruments (continued)
The table below contains a breakdown of collateral received according to type. All securities received have an open-ended term.

Collateral by type     

   31/12/2019 31/12/2018

 Currency

Rating of

government bonds

Market value in

EUR' 000

Market value in

EUR' 000

American Depository Receipt USD – 32,859

Cash EUR 573 –

Cash HKD – 579

Cash USD 685 –

Global Depository Receipt USD – 795

Government bonds EUR Investment grade 5,445 –

Government bonds GBP Investment grade 8,087 –

Government bonds USD Investment grade 12,453 –

Real-estate funds listed ZAR – 149

Real-estate funds listed in non-OECD countries HKD 7 –

Real-estate funds listed in non-OECD countries SGD 420 –

Real-estate funds listed in OECD countries JPY 2 –

Real-estate funds listed in OECD countries USD 2,028 –

Stocks listed in non-OECD countries GBP 34 –

Stocks listed in non-OECD countries HKD 1,977 26,268

Stocks listed in non-OECD countries MYR – 1,902

Stocks listed in non-OECD countries SGD 166 –

Stocks listed in non-OECD countries THB – 184

Stocks listed in non-OECD countries TWD – 16,918

Stocks listed in non-OECD countries USD 78 –

Stocks listed in non-OECD countries ZAR – 2,604

Stocks listed in OECD countries AUD 836 –

Stocks listed in OECD countries CAD 183 –

Stocks listed in OECD countries CHF 941 –

Stocks listed in OECD countries DKK 226 –

Stocks listed in OECD countries EUR 10,244 –

Stocks listed in OECD countries GBP 9,056 –

Stocks listed in OECD countries JPY 5,645 –

Stocks listed in OECD countries KRW – 3,889

Stocks listed in OECD countries MXN – 166

Stocks listed in OECD countries PLN – 681

Stocks listed in OECD countries SEK 104 –

Stocks listed in OECD countries USD 6,204 –

Total 65,394 86,994

J.P. Morgan has been appointed custodian of all collateral received. The securities are managed by RIAM and are held on separate

accounts per counterparty. In line with the provisions in the prospectus, the collateral received has not been reinvested.

J.P. Morgan is the intermediary for all of the fund’s securities-lending transactions. As compensation for its services, J.P. Morgan

receives a fee of (A) 25% of the gross income on these securities-lending transactions for loans which generates a return of 0.5% or less 

and (B) 10% of the gross income from these securities-lending transactions for any loans which generate a return greater than 0.5%. An 

external agency periodically assesses whether the agreements between the fund and J.P. Morgan are still in line with the market. The 

fund's revenues and J.P. Morgan & RIAM's fee are included in the following table.
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Risks relating to financial instruments (continued) 

Risk of lending financial instruments (continued) 

Income from securities lending       

2019 2018 

Gross

revenues in

EUR' 000

Fee paid to

J.P. Morgan in

EUR' 000

Net fund 

revenues in

EUR' 000

Gross

revenues in

EUR' 000

Fee paid to

RIAM/

J.P. Morgan in 

EUR' 000

Net fund 

revenues in 

EUR' 000

Shares lent out 492 67 425 557 145 412

Total 492 67 425 557 145 412

Liquidity risk 
Liquidity risk is an unintentional form of risk that is a consequence of the investment policy. Liquidity risk occurs when financial 

instruments cannot be sold in a timely fashion unless additional costs are incurred. Liquidity risk can be divided into two categories: exit 

risk and the liquidity risk of financial instruments.

Exit risk 
Exit risks occur when the fund's value is negatively affected by the exit of one or more clients, with negative consequences for existing 

clients. The extent to which the value of the fund can be negatively affected depends on the liquidity of the financial instruments in the 

portfolio, and on the concentration of clients. An exit charge is made to cover the exit costs in order to prevent exits having a negative 

effect on the fund.

Liquidity risk of financial instruments 
The actual buying and selling prices of financial instruments in which the fund invests partly depend upon the liquidity of the financial 

instruments in question. It is possible that a position taken on behalf of the fund cannot be quickly liquidated at a reasonable price due to 

a lack of liquidity in the market in terms of supply and demand. To limit this risk, the fund invests almost entirely in financial

instruments that can be traded daily, so the liquidity risk of financial instruments occurring under normal circumstances does not occur. 

Moreover, liquidity risks of financial instruments are contained using limits on the non-liquid portion of the securities portfolio.

Manager
Robeco Institutional Asset Management B.V. (“RIAM”) is the fund manager. In this capacity, RIAM handles the asset management, 

administration, marketing and distribution of the fund. RIAM holds an AIFMD license as referred to in Section 2:65 Wft. In addition, 

RIAM is licensed as a manager of UCITS (2:69b Wft, the Dutch Financial Supervision Act), which includes managing individual assets 

and giving advice on financial instruments. RIAM is subject to supervision by the Dutch Authority for the Financial Markets (Stichting 

Autoriteit Financiële Markten, “AFM”). RIAM has listed the fund with AFM. RIAM is a 100% subsidiary of ORIX Corporation Europe 

N.V. via Robeco Holding B.V. ORIX Corporation Europe N.V. is a part of ORIX Corporation.

Custodian
The assets of the fund are held in custody by J.P. Morgan Bank Luxembourg S.A., Amsterdam Branch. J.P. Morgan Bank Luxembourg 

S.A., Amsterdam Branch is appointed as the custodian of the fund as referred to in Section 4:62n Wft. The custodian is responsible for 

supervising the fund insofar as required under and in accordance with the applicable legislation. The manager, the fund and J.P. Morgan 

Bank Luxembourg S.A., Amsterdam Branch have concluded a custody agreement.

Liability of the custodian 
The custodian is liable to the fund and/or the participants for the loss of a financial instrument under the custody of the custodian or of a 

third party to which custody has been transferred. The custodian is not liable if it can demonstrate that the loss is a result of an external 

event over which it in all reasonableness had no control and of which the consequences were unavoidable, despite all efforts to

ameliorate them. The custodian is also liable to the fund and/or the participants for all other losses they suffer because the custodian has 

not fulfilled its obligations as stated in this custodial agreement either deliberately or through negligence. Participants may make an 

indirect claim upon the liability of the custodian through the manager. If the manager refuses to entertain such a request, the

participants are authorized to submit the claim for losses directly to the custodian.
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Risks relating to financial instruments (continued) 

Affiliated parties 
The fund and the manager may utilize the services of and carry out transactions with parties affiliated to the fund, as defined in the BGfo, 

such as RIAM, Robeco Nederland B.V and ORIX Corporation. The services entail the execution of tasks that have been outsourced to

these parties such as (1) securities lending, (2) hiring temporary staff and (3) issuance and repurchase of the participating units. 

Transactions that can be carried out with affiliated parties include the following: treasury management, derivatives transactions, lending 

of financial instruments, credit extension, purchase and sale of financial instruments on regulated markets or through multilateral trading 

facilities. All these services and transactions are executed at market rates.
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Notes to the balance sheet 

1. Equities 

Movements in the stock portfolio 

2019

EUR' 000

2018

EUR' 000

Book value (fair value) at opening date 1,218,541 1,426,599

Purchases 820,602 529,919

Sales (597,287) (565,824)

Unrealized gains / (losses) 222,933 (193,775)

Realized (losses) / gains (1,888) 21,622

Book value (fair value) at closing date 1,662,901 1,218,541

EUR 21,976 thousand of the realized and unrealized results on the equity portfolio relates to exchange rate differences.

A breakdown of this portfolio is given under Schedule of Investments. A sub-division into regions and sectors is provided under the 

information on concentration risk under the information on Risks relating to financial instruments.

Transaction costs 
Brokerage costs and exchange fees relating to investment transactions are discounted in the cost price or the sales value of the investment 

transactions. These costs and fees are charged to the result ensuing from changes in value. The quantifiable transaction costs are shown 

below.

2019 2018

EUR' 000 EUR' 000

Equities 2,003 1,681

Futures 20 7

RIAM wants to be certain that the selection of counterparties for equity transactions (brokers) occurs using procedures and criteria that 

ensure the best results for the fund (best execution).

No costs for research were charged to the fund during the reporting period.

2. Investments in funds of Robeco Group 

Movements in the funds of the Robeco Group 

2019

EUR' 000

2018

EUR' 000

Book value (fair value) at opening date 8,569 –

Purchases 55,072 10,373

Sales – –

Unrealized gains / (losses) 6,190 (1,804)

Realized gains – –

Book value (fair value) at closing date 69,831 8,569

The realized and unrealized results on the funds of the Robeco Group do not contain any exchange rate differences.
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Notes to the balance sheet (continued) 

2. Investments in funds of Robeco Group (continued)

Overview of investments in funds of the Robeco Group 

         

Market 

value 

Fair

value1 Return

Ongoing

charges2

Market 

value 

Fair

value1 Return

Ongoing

charges2

 31/12/2019 31/12/2019 2019 2019 31/12/2018 31/12/2018 2018 2018

 EUR' 000 EUR % % EUR' 000 EUR % %

Robeco QI Institutional Emerging 

Markets Enhanced Index Equities Fund       

Robeco QI Chinese A-share Active 

Equities - Z EUR3 69,831 105.03 36.0 0.14 8,569 76.84 (22.50) 0.64

Total 69,831 8,569

1 Per share/participating unit. 
2 The manager of the above funds does not charge management or service fee to Robeco QI Institutional Emerging Markets Enhanced Index Equities Fund. 
3 Part of the umbrella fund Robeco Capital Growth Funds. This fund has UCITS IV status and is subject to Luxembourg supervision. The last published financial report and semi-annual 

report can be obtained at the address of Robeco QI Institutional Emerging Markets Enhanced Index Equities Funds.. 

Robeco QI Institutional Emerging Markets Enhanced Index Equities Funds can on a daily basis enter and exit the above funds of the 

Robeco Group at the prices applicable on the respective day. Costs for entry and exiting these funds are not charged, but swing pricing is 

in place. 

Swing pricing 
The actual costs of the purchase or sale of assets and investments for a fund may deviate from the most recent available price, or if 

applicable, net asset value that is used for the calculation of the net asset value per participating unit. This can be the result of levies, 

costs and differences between the purchase and sales prices of the underlying investments (‘spreads’). These costs have a negative 

impact on a fund’s value which is called ‘dilution’. In order to alleviate the effects of dilution, the management board can use its own 

discretion to adapt the net asset value of each participating unit within a specified bandwidth. The management board reserves the right 

to determine under which circumstances they will implement such a dilution adjustment.

3. Derivatives 

Movements in derivatives 

Forward Currency Exchange  Contracts

2019

EUR' 000

2018

EUR' 000

Book value (fair value) at opening date – –

Expirations 25 –

Unrealized gains – –

Realized losses (25) –

Book value (fair value) at closing date – –

Movements in derivatives 

Financial future contracts

2019

EUR' 000

2018

EUR' 000

Book value (fair value) at opening date (20) –

Purchases – 2,095

Sales (146) –

Unrealized gains / (losses) 80 (20)

Realized gains / (losses) 146 (2,095)

Book value (fair value) at closing date 60 (20)

The realized and unrealized results on derivatives do not contain any exchange rate differences.

The presentation of derivatives on the balance sheet is based on the liabilities and receivables per contract.
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Notes to the balance sheet (continued) 

3. Derivatives (continued)

Presentation of derivatives in the balance sheet 

Assets Liabilities Total 

 31/12/2019 31/12/2018 31/12/2019 31/12/2018 31/12/2019 31/12/2018

 EUR' 000 EUR' 000 EUR' 000 EUR' 000 EUR' 000 EUR' 000

Financial Futures Contract 60 – – 20 60 (20)

Book value (fair value) at closing date 60 – – 20 60 (20)

The breakdown according to region for futures is given under the information on concentration risk under the information on risks 

relating to financial instruments. 

4. Dividend receivable 

These are receivables arising from net dividends declared but not yet received.

5. Other receivables, prepayments and accrued income 

This concerns:

31/12/2019

EUR' 000

31/12/2018

EUR' 000

Dividend tax to be reclaimed 1,295 1,521

Others 2 –

Sub-total (investment activities) 1,297 1,521

Receivables from issuance of new shares – 18

Sub-total (financing activities) – 18

Total 1,297 1,539

6. Cash and cash equivalents 

This concerns:

31/12/2019

EUR' 000

31/12/2018

EUR' 000

Freely available cash 5,885 3,179

Other cash not freely accessible 202 196

Total 6,087 3,375

7. Payable to credit institutions 

This relates to temporary debit balances on bank accounts caused by investment transactions.

8. Payable to affiliated parties 

This concerns the following payables to RIAM:

31/12/2019

EUR' 000

31/12/2018

EUR' 000

Payable for management fee 1,670 1,850

Total 1,670 1,850
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Notes to the balance sheet (continued) 

9. Other liabilities, accruals and deferred income 

This concerns: 

31/12/2019

EUR' 000

31/12/2018

EUR' 000

Costs payable 209 151

Sub-total (investment activities) 209 151

Payable for acquisition of own shares 586 1

Sub-total (financing activities) 586 1

Total 795 152

10. Fund assets 

2019

EUR' 000

2018

EUR' 000

Development of fund assets 

Situation on opening date 1,062,306 1,085,784

Received on participating units issued 381,215 93,433

Paid for participating units repurchased (107,080) (116,911)

Situation on closing date 1,336,441 1,062,306

General reserve 

Situation on opening date 316,645 66,511

Addition of result in previous financial year (177,210) 250,134

Situation on closing date 139,435 316,645

Undistributed earnings 

Situation on opening date (145,034) 280,142

Net result 266,718 (145,034)

Distributed to holders of participating units (32,176) (30,008)

Addition to the general reserve 177,210 (250,134)

Situation on closing date 266,718 (145,034)

Situation on closing date 1,742,594 1,233,917

11. Fund assets, participating units outstanding and net asset value per participating unit 

 31/12/2019 31/12/2018 31/12/2017

Assets in EUR' 000 1,742,594 1,233,917 1,432,437

Number of participating units outstanding 10,725,810 8,939,052 9,095,389

Net asset value per participating unit in EUR 162.47 138.04 157.49
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Notes to the profit and loss account 

Income 

12. Investment income 

This concerns: 

2019

EUR' 000

2018

EUR' 000

Dividends received* 45,280 39,621

Interest 195 6

Net revenues from securities lending 425 412

Total 45,900 40,039

* This concerns net dividends received. Factored into this amount as withholding tax reclaimable from the country that withheld the tax plus withholding tax that is subject to a remittance 

reduction from the Dutch tax authorities. The remittance reduction is offset against the dividend tax payable on dividends distributed by the fund. 

Costs 

13. Management fee and service fee 

The management fee is charged by the manager. The fees are calculated daily on the basis of the fund assets.

Management fee and service fee specified in the information memorandum 

%

Management fee 0.40

The management fee is used to pay for all the costs arising from the management and marketing of the fund, as well as costs of 

administration, external advisors, supervisors and costs relating to statutory reporting including annual and semi-annual reporting and the 

costs of holding participants’ meetings. If the manager outsources operations to third parties, any costs associated with this will also be 

paid from the management fee. 

14. Performance fee 

Robeco QI Institutional Emerging Markets Enhanced Index Equities Fund is not subject to a performance fee.

15. Other costs 

This concerns:

2019

EUR' 000

2018

EUR' 000

Custody fee 495 437

Bank charges – 240

Other costs relating to own shares – 9

Depositary fee 60 95

Auditing costs 10 6

Total 565 787

16. Ongoing charges 

2019

%

2018

%

Management fee 0.40 0.68

Other costs 0.04 0.06

Prorportion of income on securities lending payable 0.00 0.01

Total 0.44 0.75
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Notes to the profit and loss account (continued) 

Costs (continued) 

16. Ongoing charges (continued)
The percentage of ongoing charges is based on the average assets. The average assets are calculated on a daily basis. The ongoing

charges include all costs charged to the share classes in the reporting period, excluding the costs of transactions in financial instruments 

and interest charges. The ongoing charges do not include any payment of entry or exit costs charged by distributors. The costs paid for 

the external auditor relate exclusively to audit-related costs and amount over the financial year to EUR 10 thousand. 

The proportion of securities-lending income payable as defined in the Information on the Risks of lending Financial Instruments on page 

25 is included separately in the ongoing charges.

17. Maximum costs 

For some cost items, the fund's information memorandum specifies a maximum percentage of average net assets. The table below 

compares these maximum percentages with the costs actually charged.

2019

EUR' 000

2019 % of

net assets

Maximum as 

specified in the

information

memorandum

Management fee for Robeco QI Institutional Emerging Markets 

Enhanced Index Equities  6,019 0.40 0.40

Custody fee and bank cost 495 0.04 0.10

Depositary fee 60 0.00 0.01

Auditing cost 10 0.00 EUR 10,000

18. Turnover rate 

The turnover rate for the reporting period was 66% (for the previous reporting period it was 65%). This rate shows the rate at which the 

fund's portfolio is turned over and is a measure of the incurred transaction costs resulting from the portfolio policy pursued and the 

ensuing investment transactions. The turnover rate is determined by expressing the amount of the turnover as a percentage of the average 

fund assets. The average fund assets are calculated on a daily basis. The amount of the turnover is determined by the sum of the

purchases and sales of investments less the sum of issuance and repurchase of own shares. The sum of issues and repurchases of own

participating units is determined as the balance of all issues and repurchases in the fund. Cash and money-market investments with an 

original life to maturity of less than one month are not taken into account in the calculation.

19. Transactions with affiliated parties 

Part of the transaction volume over the reporting period relates to transactions with affiliated parties. The table below shows the various 

types of transactions where this was the case.

2019 2018 

 Counterparty % %

Securities lending transactions RIAM – 70.70

During the reporting period the Fund paid RIAM the following amounts in management fee: 

Counterparty 

2019

EUR' 000

2018

EUR' 000

Management fee RIAM 6,019 9,142

20. Fiscal status 

The fund has the status of a fiscal investment institution. A detailed description of its fiscal status is included in the general information 

of the management report on page 4.
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Notes to the profit and loss account (continued) 

Costs (continued) 

21. Proposed profit appropriation 

For the financial year 2019, dividend distribution will take place on the basis of the fiscal result in order to fulfill the fiscal distribution 

obligation. It is proposed to establish the dividend for the financial year 2019 at EUR 39.0 million (previous year EUR 32.0 million). The 

dividend per participating unit will be determined by dividing the dividend amount by the number of participating units outstanding on 

19 June 2020. 

The Net Asset Value "NAV" per participating unit will be quoted ex-dividend as of the dealing day 22 June 2020. The NAV per share of 

the dealing day 22 June 2020 will be published on 23 June 2020. The dividend will be made payable on 24 June 2020. In conformity

with the Terms and Conditions of Management and Custody, the net dividend (after deducting 15% dividend tax) will be automatically 

re-invested on the distribution date unless participants have indicated to choose payment by means of a request to this effect.

22. Subsequent events 

Market Impact Covid-19 

Robeco Institutional Asset Management B.V.  considers the COVID-19 (Corona) Pandemic as a significant event after closing the 

Annual Reports 2019 of the Investment Funds under management. The impact of the pandemic on people, companies and the economy 

at large cannot be assessed in full depth at this stage. However, the impact may have a downward effect on the performance. Measures to 

mitigate the immediate operational risks are in place. Additional measures are dependent on our own assessments and the response of the 

authorities. 

Our operational measures for business continuity 

In response to the Covid-19 outbreak, Robeco is constantly monitoring the latest developments and has taken all measures necessary to 

manage the situation and to ensure business continuity. Our operational measures and capabilities are such that Robeco remains fully 

functional in managing client portfolios and serving clients. Our systems and platforms are designed to enable our staff, most of whom 

are working from home, to operate as normal. Our approach is one of vigilance and flexibility, allowing us to implement new or revised 

measures smoothly and as necessary to ensure the health and safety of our staff while maintaining business continuity. 
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Currency table 

Exchange rates 

31/12/2019

    EUR = 1 

31/12/2018

    EUR = 1 

AED 4.1231 4.2001

BRL 4.5155 4.4215

CLP 844.0639 791.6104

COP 3,683.4837 3,711.4386

CZK 25.4140 25.7415

EGP 18.0161 20.4563

HKD 8.7463 8.9534

HUF 330.7100 321.5550

IDR 15,583.1062 16,648.6318

INR 80.1220 80.1044

KRW 1,298.1151 1,275.8615

MXN 21.1973 22.4405

MYR 4.5916 4.7482

PHP 56.8490 60.1283

PLN 4.2512 4.3055

QAR 4.0870 4.1636

SAR 4.2108 4.2897

THB 33.6231 37.2307

TRY 6.6800 6.0255

TWD 33.6492 35.1462

USD 1.1225 1.1434

ZAR 15.6965 16.4335
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Schedule of Investments 
As at 31 December 2019 

Investments Currency

Quantity/

Nominal

Value

Market 

Value

EUR' 000

% of Net 

Assets

Transferable securities and money market instruments admitted to an official exchange listing 

Equities

Argentina 

Banco Macro SA, ADR USD 13,278 429 0 .03

Grupo Financiero Galicia SA, ADR USD 32,867 475 0 .03

YPF SA, ADR USD 56,992 588 0 .03

1,492 0 .09

Bermuda 

Brilliance China Automotive Holdings Ltd. HKD 964,000 891 0 .05

China Resources Gas Group Ltd. HKD 262,000 1,282 0 .07

Credicorp Ltd. USD 20,246 3,844 0 .22

Haier Electronics Group Co. Ltd. HKD 376,000 1,047 0 .06

Kunlun Energy Co. Ltd. HKD 952,000 749 0 .04

Nine Dragons Paper Holdings Ltd. HKD 659,000 610 0 .03

Shenzhen International Holdings Ltd. HKD 272,500 533 0 .03

Sihuan Pharmaceutical Holdings Group Ltd. HKD 3,344,000 356 0 .02

9,312 0 .52

Brazil 

Ambev SA, ADR USD 441,431 1,832 0 .11

B3 SA - Brasil Bolsa Balcao BRL 662,400 6,303 0 .36

Banco Bradesco SA, ADR Preference USD 1,202,728 9,590 0 .55

Banco Bradesco SA BRL 356,029 2,686 0 .15

Banco BTG Pactual SA BRL 70,200 1,184 0 .07

Banco do Brasil SA BRL 510,928 5,977 0 .34

Banco do Estado do Rio Grande do Sul SA Preference 'B' BRL 643,900 3,087 0 .18

Banco Santander Brasil SA, ADR USD 342,057 3,696 0 .21

BB Seguridade Participacoes SA BRL 227,400 1,899 0 .11

BR Malls Participacoes SA BRL 249,900 999 0 .06

BRF SA, ADR USD 581,939 4,510 0 .26

CCR SA BRL 360,800 1,517 0 .09

Centrais Eletricas Brasileiras SA BRL 70,400 589 0 .03

Centrais Eletricas Brasileiras SA Preference BRL 74,800 634 0 .04

Cia Brasileira de Distribuicao Preference BRL 46,600 905 0 .05

Cia de Saneamento Basico do Estado de Sao Paulo, ADR USD 110,224 1,478 0 .09

Cia Energetica de Minas Gerais Preference BRL 257,396 786 0 .05

Cia Paranaense de Energia, ADR Preference USD 233,796 3,528 0 .20

Cia Siderurgica Nacional SA BRL 195,600 611 0 .03

Cosan SA BRL 39,700 612 0 .04

Cyrela Brazil Realty SA Empreendimentos e Participacoes BRL 506,500 3,330 0 .19

Engie Brasil Energia SA BRL 63,375 713 0 .04

Equatorial Energia SA BRL 272,900 1,377 0 .08

Gerdau SA Preference BRL 346,400 1,534 0 .09

Itau Unibanco Holding SA, ADR Preference USD 1,569,529 12,794 0 .73

Itausa - Investimentos Itau SA Preference BRL 1,421,413 4,435 0 .25

JBS SA BRL 357,900 2,045 0 .12

Multiplan Empreendimentos Imobiliarios SA BRL 85,700 628 0 .04

Natura & Co. Holding SA BRL 114,800 983 0 .06

Petrobras Distribuidora SA BRL 220,800 1,470 0 .08
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Schedule of Investments (continued) 
As at 31 December 2019 

Investments Currency

Quantity/

Nominal

Value

Market 

Value

EUR' 000

% of Net 

Assets

Transferable securities and money market instruments admitted to an official exchange listing (continued) 

Equities (continued) 

Brazil (continued) 

Petroleo Brasileiro SA, ADR USD 451,975 6,418 0 .37

Petroleo Brasileiro SA, ADR Preference USD 666,873 8,864 0 .51

Petroleo Brasileiro SA BRL 46,224 328 0 .02

Qualicorp Consultoria e Corretora de Seguros SA BRL 439,200 3,608 0 .21

Raia Drogasil SA BRL 69,600 1,721 0 .10

Rumo SA BRL 344,600 1,992 0 .11

Sul America SA BRL 100,100 1,328 0 .08

Suzano SA BRL 137,000 1,204 0 .07

Telefonica Brasil SA, ADR Preference USD 206,455 2,634 0 .15

TIM Participacoes SA, ADR USD 50,378 858 0 .05

TOTVS SA BRL 229,200 3,277 0 .19

Transmissora Alianca de Energia Eletrica SA BRL 369,900 2,554 0 .15

Ultrapar Participacoes SA BRL 230,100 1,298 0 .08

Vale SA, ADR USD 567,905 6,678 0 .38

WEG SA BRL 265,100 2,035 0 .12

126,529 7 .29

Cayman Islands 

Agile Group Holdings Ltd. HKD 2,018,000 2,704 0 .15

Alibaba Group Holding Ltd., ADR USD 512,349 96,810 5 .56

ANTA Sports Products Ltd. HKD 354,000 2,823 0 .16

Baidu, Inc., ADR USD 43,659 4,916 0 .28

Bosideng International Holdings Ltd. HKD 2,342,000 753 0 .04

Chailease Holding Co. Ltd. TWD 352,260 1,445 0 .08

China Aoyuan Group Ltd. HKD 2,064,000 2,997 0 .17

China Medical System Holdings Ltd. HKD 2,211,000 2,836 0 .16

China Mengniu Dairy Co. Ltd. HKD 852,000 3,069 0 .18

China Overseas Property Holdings Ltd. HKD 1,600,000 896 0 .05

China Resources Cement Holdings Ltd. HKD 706,000 801 0 .05

China Resources Land Ltd. HKD 894,016 3,966 0 .23

China State Construction International Holdings Ltd. HKD 654,000 529 0 .03

CIFI Holdings Group Co. Ltd. HKD 1,074,000 809 0 .05

Country Garden Holdings Co. Ltd. HKD 4,866,000 6,943 0 .40

Country Garden Services Holdings Co. Ltd. HKD 346,000 1,038 0 .06

Geely Automobile Holdings Ltd. HKD 1,037,000 1,807 0 .10

Innovent Biologics, Inc., Reg. S HKD 227,000 689 0 .04

JD.com, Inc., ADR USD 234,310 7,354 0 .42

Kingboard Holdings Ltd. HKD 205,000 579 0 .03

Kingboard Laminates Holdings Ltd. HKD 1,792,000 1,979 0 .11

Li Ning Co. Ltd. HKD 1,774,500 4,737 0 .27

Logan Property Holdings Co. Ltd. HKD 1,730,000 2,587 0 .15

Longfor Group Holdings Ltd., Reg. S HKD 1,280,500 5,344 0 .31

Lonking Holdings Ltd. HKD 4,741,000 1,268 0 .08

Meituan Dianping, Reg. S 'B' HKD 316,800 3,691 0 .21

Momo, Inc., ADR USD 104,731 3,126 0 .18

NetEase, Inc., ADR USD 35,726 9,759 0 .56

New Oriental Education & Technology Group, Inc., ADR USD 76,684 8,283 0 .47
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Schedule of Investments (continued) 
As at 31 December 2019 

Investments Currency

Quantity/

Nominal

Value

Market 

Value

EUR' 000

% of Net 

Assets

Transferable securities and money market instruments admitted to an official exchange listing (continued) 

Equities (continued) 

Cayman Islands (continued) 

Pinduoduo, Inc., ADR USD 56,372 1,899 0 .11

Shimao Property Holdings Ltd. HKD 370,000 1,278 0 .07

Shui On Land Ltd. HKD 6,391,000 1,250 0 .07

SINA Corp. USD 20,159 717 0 .04

Sunac China Holdings Ltd. HKD 1,500,000 7,983 0 .46

Sunny Optical Technology Group Co. Ltd. HKD 225,100 3,472 0 .20

Tencent Holdings Ltd. HKD 1,680,000 72,146 4 .14

Tianneng Power International Ltd. HKD 2,218,000 1,504 0 .09

Tingyi Cayman Islands Holding Corp. HKD 1,650,000 2,509 0 .14

Vipshop Holdings Ltd., ADR USD 425,684 5,374 0 .31

Want Want China Holdings Ltd. HKD 2,151,000 1,790 0 .10

Yihai International Holding Ltd. HKD 571,000 2,984 0 .17

Zhen Ding Technology Holding Ltd. TWD 1,005,000 4,271 0 .25

Zhongsheng Group Holdings Ltd. HKD 179,500 655 0 .04

292,370 16 .77

Chile

AES Gener SA CLP 4,347,564 840 0 .05

Banco de Chile CLP 7,411,756 700 0 .04

Banco Santander Chile, ADR USD 52,930 1,088 0 .06

Cencosud SA CLP 415,196 487 0 .03

Colbun SA CLP 8,650,148 1,230 0 .07

Enel Americas SA, ADR USD 597,877 5,848 0 .34

Enel Chile SA, ADR USD 167,985 711 0 .04

Latam Airlines Group SA, ADR USD 91,239 826 0 .05

11,730 0 .68

China 

Agricultural Bank of China Ltd. 'H' HKD 9,372,000 3,675 0 .21

Anhui Conch Cement Co. Ltd. 'H' HKD 971,500 6,309 0 .36

BAIC Motor Corp. Ltd., Reg. S 'H' HKD 1,625,500 821 0 .05

Bank of China Ltd. 'H' HKD 29,254,200 11,138 0 .64

Bank of Communications Co. Ltd. 'H' HKD 7,351,045 4,656 0 .27

Beijing Capital International Airport Co. Ltd. 'H' HKD 534,000 461 0 .03

CGN Power Co. Ltd., Reg. S 'H' HKD 3,125,000 743 0 .04

China Cinda Asset Management Co. Ltd. 'H' HKD 18,086,000 3,660 0 .21

China CITIC Bank Corp. Ltd. 'H' HKD 8,963,800 4,786 0 .28

China Coal Energy Co. Ltd. 'H' HKD 4,277,000 1,511 0 .09

China Communications Construction Co. Ltd. 'H' HKD 1,392,000 1,011 0 .06

China Construction Bank Corp. 'H' HKD 30,793,090 23,694 1 .36

China Everbright Bank Co. Ltd. 'H' HKD 1,019,000 422 0 .02

China Galaxy Securities Co. Ltd. 'H' HKD 1,097,500 576 0 .03

China Life Insurance Co. Ltd. 'H' HKD 2,220,100 5,496 0 .31

China Merchants Bank Co. Ltd. 'H' HKD 1,276,993 5,847 0 .34

China Minsheng Banking Corp. Ltd. 'H' HKD 7,402,352 4,985 0 .29

China National Building Material Co. Ltd. 'H' HKD 5,032,000 5,005 0 .29

China Oilfield Services Ltd. 'H' HKD 540,000 755 0 .04
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Schedule of Investments (continued) 
As at 31 December 2019 

Investments Currency

Quantity/

Nominal

Value

Market 

Value

EUR' 000

% of Net 

Assets

Transferable securities and money market instruments admitted to an official exchange listing (continued) 

Equities (continued) 

China (continued) 

China Pacific Insurance Group Co. Ltd. 'H' HKD 1,223,600 4,295 0 .25

China Railway Construction Corp. Ltd. 'H' HKD 393,500 384 0 .02

China Shenhua Energy Co. Ltd. 'H' HKD 2,003,000 3,728 0 .21

China Telecom Corp. Ltd. 'H' HKD 8,942,000 3,282 0 .19

China Vanke Co. Ltd. 'H' HKD 1,059,600 4,028 0 .23

Chongqing Rural Commercial Bank Co. Ltd. 'H' HKD 5,521,000 2,512 0 .14

COSCO SHIPPING Energy Transportation Co. Ltd. 'H' HKD 1,540,000 648 0 .04

Dongfeng Motor Group Co. Ltd. 'H' HKD 1,120,000 939 0 .05

Great Wall Motor Co. Ltd. 'H' HKD 5,929,000 3,905 0 .22

Guangzhou R&F Properties Co. Ltd. 'H' HKD 283,200 466 0 .03

Haitong Securities Co. Ltd. 'H' HKD 956,800 1,007 0 .06

Huaneng Power International, Inc. 'H' HKD 1,242,000 560 0 .03

Huatai Securities Co. Ltd., Reg. S 'H' HKD 486,600 767 0 .04

Industrial & Commercial Bank of China Ltd. 'H' HKD 20,890,995 14,331 0 .82

Jiangsu Expressway Co. Ltd. 'H' HKD 360,000 440 0 .03

Jiangxi Copper Co. Ltd. 'H' HKD 3,162,000 3,876 0 .22

Metallurgical Corp. of China Ltd. 'H' HKD 4,612,000 923 0 .05

New China Life Insurance Co. Ltd. 'H' HKD 244,800 938 0 .05

People's Insurance Co. Group of China Ltd. (The) 'H' HKD 2,734,000 1,013 0 .06

PetroChina Co. Ltd. 'H' HKD 1,806,000 807 0 .05

PICC Property & Casualty Co. Ltd. 'H' HKD 2,288,227 2,457 0 .14

Ping An Insurance Group Co. of China Ltd. 'H' HKD 1,788,500 18,833 1 .08

Postal Savings Bank of China Co. Ltd., Reg. S 'H' HKD 2,348,000 1,423 0 .08

Shandong Weigao Group Medical Polymer Co. Ltd. 'H' HKD 600,000 641 0 .04

Shanghai Electric Group Co. Ltd. 'H' HKD 5,526,000 1,617 0 .09

Sinopec Engineering Group Co. Ltd. 'H' HKD 1,696,500 904 0 .05

Sinopharm Group Co. Ltd. 'H' HKD 351,600 1,144 0 .06

Tsingtao Brewery Co. Ltd. 'H' HKD 678,000 4,058 0 .23

Weichai Power Co. Ltd. 'H' HKD 659,000 1,239 0 .07

WuXi AppTec Co. Ltd., Reg. S 'H' HKD 49,400 546 0 .03

Yanzhou Coal Mining Co. Ltd. 'H' HKD 3,762,000 3,011 0 .17

Zhejiang Expressway Co. Ltd. 'H' HKD 3,260,000 2,646 0 .15

Zijin Mining Group Co. Ltd. 'H' HKD 1,806,000 801 0 .05

ZTE Corp. 'H' HKD 223,400 609 0 .03

174,329 9 .98

Colombia 

Bancolombia SA, ADR Preference USD 35,812 1,748 0 .10

Bancolombia SA COP 66,822 798 0 .05

Ecopetrol SA, ADR USD 83,883 1,492 0 .09

Grupo Aval Acciones y Valores SA Preference COP 1,147,894 455 0 .03

Interconexion Electrica SA ESP COP 431,982 2,299 0 .13

6,792 0 .40

Czech Republic 

CEZ A/S CZK 54,859 1,100 0 .06

Komercni banka A/S CZK 24,175 789 0 .05
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Schedule of Investments (continued) 
As at 31 December 2019 

Investments Currency

Quantity/

Nominal

Value

Market 

Value

EUR' 000

% of Net 

Assets

Transferable securities and money market instruments admitted to an official exchange listing (continued) 

Equities (continued) 

Czech Republic (continued) 

Moneta Money Bank A/S, Reg. S CZK 132,353 443 0 .03

2,332 0 .14

Egypt

Commercial International Bank Egypt SAE, Reg. S, GDR USD 125,000 568 0 .03

Commercial International Bank Egypt SAE EGP 275,116 1,268 0 .07

1,836 0 .10

Greece 

Alpha Bank AE EUR 438,733 844 0 .05

Hellenic Telecommunications Organization SA EUR 81,587 1,163 0 .07

JUMBO SA EUR 195,405 3,625 0 .21

5,632 0 .33

Hong Kong 

Beijing Enterprises Holdings Ltd. HKD 165,500 676 0 .04

China Everbright Ltd. HKD 1,898,000 3,160 0 .18

China Jinmao Holdings Group Ltd. HKD 1,560,000 1,083 0 .06

China Mobile Ltd. HKD 1,392,000 10,425 0 .60

China Overseas Land & Investment Ltd. HKD 1,134,000 3,935 0 .23

China Resources Beer Holdings Co. Ltd. HKD 470,000 2,316 0 .13

China Unicom Hong Kong Ltd. HKD 1,802,000 1,512 0 .09

CITIC Ltd. HKD 4,320,000 5,147 0 .29

CNOOC Ltd. HKD 6,043,000 8,954 0 .51

CSPC Pharmaceutical Group Ltd. HKD 1,488,000 3,161 0 .18

Far East Horizon Ltd. HKD 658,000 549 0 .03

Fosun International Ltd. HKD 813,500 1,057 0 .06

Guangdong Investment Ltd. HKD 874,000 1,629 0 .09

Lenovo Group Ltd. HKD 2,082,000 1,245 0 .07

Poly Property Group Co. Ltd. HKD 3,273,000 1,209 0 .07

Shenzhen Investment Ltd. HKD 330,000 118 0 .01

Sinotruk Hong Kong Ltd. HKD 1,584,500 3,011 0 .17

Sun Art Retail Group Ltd. HKD 768,000 830 0 .05

Yuexiu Property Co. Ltd. HKD 2,218,000 456 0 .03

50,473 2 .89

Hungary 

MOL Hungarian Oil & Gas plc HUF 122,616 1,090 0 .06

OTP Bank Nyrt. HUF 66,894 3,121 0 .18

Richter Gedeon Nyrt. HUF 46,160 895 0 .05

5,106 0 .29

India

Adani Ports & Special Economic Zone Ltd. INR 147,449 674 0 .04

Ambuja Cements Ltd. INR 175,578 430 0 .02

Apollo Hospitals Enterprise Ltd. INR 185,571 3,340 0 .19
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Schedule of Investments (continued) 
As at 31 December 2019 

Investments Currency

Quantity/

Nominal

Value

Market 

Value

EUR' 000

% of Net 

Assets

Transferable securities and money market instruments admitted to an official exchange listing (continued) 

Equities (continued) 

India (continued) 

Asian Paints Ltd. INR 85,716 1,909 0 .11

Avenue Supermarts Ltd., Reg. S INR 39,707 911 0 .05

Axis Bank Ltd. INR 150,481 1,416 0 .08

Bajaj Auto Ltd. INR 24,800 986 0 .06

Bajaj Finance Ltd. INR 51,652 2,730 0 .16

Bharat Heavy Electricals Ltd. INR 1,760,315 955 0 .05

Bharat Petroleum Corp. Ltd. INR 686,542 4,212 0 .24

Bharti Airtel Ltd. INR 577,211 3,284 0 .19

Cipla Ltd. INR 66,915 399 0 .02

Coal India Ltd. INR 1,703,593 4,494 0 .26

Dr Reddy's Laboratories Ltd., ADR USD 120,479 4,356 0 .25

Grasim Industries Ltd. INR 95,301 885 0 .05

HCL Technologies Ltd. INR 778,990 5,523 0 .32

HDFC Asset Management Co. Ltd., Reg. S INR 37,605 1,502 0 .09

Hero MotoCorp Ltd. INR 29,469 898 0 .05

Hindalco Industries Ltd. INR 1,174,633 3,169 0 .18

Hindustan Petroleum Corp. Ltd. INR 1,009,350 3,332 0 .19

Hindustan Unilever Ltd. INR 191,886 4,606 0 .26

Housing Development Finance Corp. Ltd. INR 363,497 10,945 0 .63

ICICI Bank Ltd., ADR USD 359,446 4,832 0 .28

Indian Oil Corp. Ltd. INR 2,150,960 3,371 0 .19

Indraprastha Gas Ltd. INR 534,487 2,856 0 .17

Info Edge India Ltd. INR 20,594 650 0 .04

Infosys Ltd., ADR USD 1,451,549 13,345 0 .77

LIC Housing Finance Ltd. INR 186,559 1,011 0 .06

Lupin Ltd. INR 64,753 617 0 .04

Marico Ltd. INR 145,156 619 0 .03

Mphasis Ltd. INR 71 1 –

Muthoot Finance Ltd. INR 300,950 2,860 0 .16

Nestle India Ltd. INR 24,634 4,546 0 .26

NTPC Ltd. INR 713,007 1,059 0 .06

Petronet LNG Ltd. INR 889,473 2,975 0 .17

Pidilite Industries Ltd. INR 36,222 627 0 .04

Power Finance Corp. Ltd. INR 1,347,483 1,983 0 .12

Power Grid Corp. of India Ltd. INR 549,288 1,304 0 .07

REC Ltd. INR 1,928,750 3,445 0 .20

Reliance Industries Ltd. INR 634,026 11,981 0 .69

Shree Cement Ltd. INR 2,708 688 0 .04

Shriram Transport Finance Co. Ltd. INR 296,407 4,333 0 .25

Sun Pharmaceutical Industries Ltd. INR 247,364 1,335 0 .08

Tata Consultancy Services Ltd. INR 100,448 2,710 0 .15

Tata Motors Ltd., ADR USD 392,663 4,523 0 .26

Tata Steel Ltd. INR 102,787 606 0 .03

Tech Mahindra Ltd. INR 270,064 2,570 0 .15

UltraTech Cement Ltd. INR 31,617 1,597 0 .09

United Spirits Ltd. INR 86,344 646 0 .04

UPL Ltd. INR 222,604 1,624 0 .09

Vedanta Ltd. INR 608,862 1,159 0 .07
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Transferable securities and money market instruments admitted to an official exchange listing (continued) 

Equities (continued) 

India (continued) 

Whirlpool of India Ltd. INR 16,544 490 0 .03

Wipro Ltd. INR 1,223,316 3,753 0 .21

Zee Entertainment Enterprises Ltd. INR 141,876 517 0 .03

145,589 8 .36

Indonesia 

Adaro Energy Tbk. PT IDR 10,880,700 1,086 0 .06

Astra International Tbk. PT IDR 6,372,800 2,832 0 .16

Bank Central Asia Tbk. PT IDR 925,800 1,986 0 .11

Bank Mandiri Persero Tbk. PT IDR 12,073,100 5,946 0 .34

Bank Negara Indonesia Persero Tbk. PT IDR 2,328,500 1,173 0 .07

Barito Pacific Tbk. PT IDR 8,427,600 817 0 .05

Bukit Asam Tbk. PT IDR 9,504,300 1,622 0 .09

Indocement Tunggal Prakarsa Tbk. PT IDR 907,900 1,108 0 .06

Kalbe Farma Tbk. PT IDR 7,008,400 729 0 .04

Pakuwon Jati Tbk. PT IDR 7,770,000 284 0 .02

Perusahaan Gas Negara Tbk. PT IDR 17,326,500 2,413 0 .14

Semen Indonesia Persero Tbk. PT IDR 951,900 733 0 .04

Telekomunikasi Indonesia Persero Tbk. PT IDR 27,463,200 6,997 0 .40

United Tractors Tbk. PT IDR 499,400 690 0 .04

XL Axiata Tbk. PT IDR 2,533,100 512 0 .03

28,928 1 .65

Isle of Man 

NEPI Rockcastle plc ZAR 132,468 1,045 0 .06

1,045 0 .06

Luxembourg 

PLAY Communications SA, Reg. S PLN 377,304 3,106 0 .18

3,106 0 .18

Malaysia 

AMMB Holdings Bhd. MYR 2,740,300 2,334 0 .13

Astro Malaysia Holdings Bhd. MYR 1,758,700 486 0 .03

Axiata Group Bhd. MYR 893,278 805 0 .05

Carlsberg Brewery Malaysia Bhd. MYR 268,900 1,722 0 .10

Dialog Group Bhd. MYR 1,042,200 783 0 .05

DiGi.Com Bhd. MYR 923,900 897 0 .05

Fraser & Neave Holdings Bhd. MYR 118,100 896 0 .05

Gamuda Bhd. MYR 1,197,400 1,017 0 .06

Genting Bhd. MYR 685,900 904 0 .05

Genting Malaysia Bhd. MYR 1,051,300 753 0 .04

IJM Corp. Bhd. MYR 871,700 412 0 .02

Malayan Banking Bhd. MYR 244,399 460 0 .03

Malaysia Airports Holdings Bhd. MYR 862,400 1,427 0 .08

Maxis Bhd. MYR 685,100 794 0 .04

MISC Bhd. MYR 2,076,600 3,776 0 .22
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Transferable securities and money market instruments admitted to an official exchange listing (continued) 

Equities (continued) 

Malaysia (continued) 

Nestle Malaysia Bhd. MYR 17,300 554 0 .03

Petronas Dagangan Bhd. MYR 647,300 3,257 0 .19

Petronas Gas Bhd. MYR 203,300 736 0 .04

PPB Group Bhd. MYR 182,260 748 0 .04

RHB Bank Bhd. MYR 2,976,200 3,747 0 .22

Sime Darby Bhd. MYR 738,100 357 0 .02

Telekom Malaysia Bhd. MYR 1,599,800 1,331 0 .08

Tenaga Nasional Bhd. MYR 1,032,300 2,981 0 .17

Westports Holdings Bhd. MYR 2,301,300 2,110 0 .12

33,287 1 .91

Mexico 

Alfa SAB de CV 'A' MXN 671,100 496 0 .03

America Movil SAB de CV, ADR 'L' USD 544,120 7,756 0 .44

Cemex SAB de CV, ADR USD 439,113 1,479 0 .09

Coca-Cola Femsa SAB de CV, ADR USD 10,436 564 0 .03

Coca-Cola Femsa SAB de CV MXN 46,900 254 0 .01

Fibra Uno Administracion SA de CV, REIT MXN 3,139,600 4,338 0 .25

Fomento Economico Mexicano SAB de CV, ADR USD 26,390 2,222 0 .13

Gentera SAB de CV MXN 1,680,100 1,543 0 .09

Gruma SAB de CV 'B' MXN 66,095 605 0 .04

Grupo Aeroportuario del Centro Norte SAB de CV MXN 438,000 2,931 0 .17

Grupo Aeroportuario del Pacifico SAB de CV, ADR USD 5,311 561 0 .03

Grupo Aeroportuario del Pacifico SAB de CV 'B' MXN 53,200 564 0 .03

Grupo Bimbo SAB de CV MXN 524,700 852 0 .05

Grupo Financiero Banorte SAB de CV 'O' MXN 763,700 3,806 0 .22

Grupo Mexico SAB de CV 'B' MXN 1,036,300 2,535 0 .15

Grupo Televisa SAB, ADR USD 153,254 1,602 0 .09

Infraestructura Energetica Nova SAB de CV MXN 173,200 727 0 .04

Kimberly-Clark de Mexico SAB de CV 'A' MXN 2,028,300 3,588 0 .21

Macquarie Mexico Real Estate Management SA de CV, REIT, Reg. S MXN 1,836,000 2,131 0 .12

PLA Administradora Industrial S de RL de CV, REIT MXN 642,600 940 0 .05

Wal-Mart de Mexico SAB de CV MXN 1,557,500 3,979 0 .23

43,473 2 .50

Netherlands 

X5 Retail Group NV, Reg. S, GDR USD 39,246 1,206 0 .07

1,206 0 .07

Peru 

Cia de Minas Buenaventura SAA, ADR USD 60,770 817 0 .05

817 0 .05

Philippines

Alliance Global Group, Inc. PHP 4,280,200 878 0 .05

Ayala Corp. PHP 73,500 1,016 0 .06

BDO Unibank, Inc. PHP 620,380 1,724 0 .10
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Transferable securities and money market instruments admitted to an official exchange listing (continued) 

Equities (continued) 

Philippines (continued) 

Globe Telecom, Inc. PHP 37,725 1,340 0 .08

JG Summit Holdings, Inc. PHP 932,550 1,325 0 .08

Manila Electric Co. PHP 398,480 2,222 0 .13

Metro Pacific Investments Corp. PHP 5,776,000 353 0 .02

PLDT, Inc. PHP 70,215 1,220 0 .07

Robinsons Land Corp. PHP 1,592,100 772 0 .04

Security Bank Corp. PHP 225,900 775 0 .04

Universal Robina Corp. PHP 457,850 1,168 0 .07

12,793 0 .74

Poland

Asseco Poland SA PLN 136,333 2,041 0 .11

Bank Polska Kasa Opieki SA PLN 49,513 1,170 0 .07

CD Projekt SA PLN 22,502 1,479 0 .09

Cyfrowy Polsat SA PLN 205,546 1,351 0 .08

Grupa Lotos SA PLN 65,754 1,293 0 .07

KGHM Polska Miedz SA PLN 180,714 4,063 0 .23

PGE Polska Grupa Energetyczna SA PLN 267,763 502 0 .03

Polski Koncern Naftowy ORLEN SA PLN 98,848 1,995 0 .12

Powszechna Kasa Oszczednosci Bank Polski SA PLN 190,505 1,544 0 .09

Powszechny Zaklad Ubezpieczen SA PLN 72,853 686 0 .04

Tauron Polska Energia SA PLN 3,301,505 1,274 0 .07

17,398 1 .00

Qatar

Commercial Bank PSQC (The) QAR 584,410 672 0 .04

Masraf Al Rayan QSC QAR 1,182,183 1,145 0 .07

Ooredoo QPSC QAR 1,032,651 1,789 0 .10

Qatar Fuel QSC QAR 252,064 1,412 0 .08

Qatar Gas Transport Co. Ltd. QAR 3,114,924 1,822 0 .11

Qatar International Islamic Bank QSC QAR 235,955 559 0 .03

Qatar Islamic Bank SAQ QAR 374,597 1,405 0 .08

Qatar National Bank QPSC QAR 660,140 3,326 0 .19

12,130 0 .70

Russia 

Gazprom PJSC, ADR USD 2,124,680 15,574 0 .89

LUKOIL PJSC, ADR USD 141,025 12,460 0 .72

MMC Norilsk Nickel PJSC, ADR USD 185,820 5,057 0 .29

Mobile TeleSystems PJSC USD 308,775 1,417 0 .08

Moscow Exchange MICEX-RTS PJSC USD 444,359 687 0 .04

Novatek PJSC, Reg. S, GDR USD 2,439 441 0 .03

Novatek PJSC USD 3,872 70 –

Rosneft Oil Co. PJSC, Reg. S, GDR USD 347,162 2,229 0 .13

Sberbank of Russia PJSC Preference USD 1,051,400 3,443 0 .20

Sberbank of Russia PJSC USD 3,444,195 12,585 0 .72

Severstal PJSC, Reg. S, GDR USD 52,014 702 0 .04
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Transferable securities and money market instruments admitted to an official exchange listing (continued) 

Equities (continued) 

Russia (continued) 

Sistema PJSFC USD 10,460,900 2,286 0 .13

Surgutneftegas PJSC, ADR USD 241,623 1,736 0 .10

Surgutneftegas PJSC Preference USD 3,462,631 1,874 0 .11

Tatneft PJSC, ADR USD 82,539 5,431 0 .31

VTB Bank PJSC, Reg. S, GDR USD 454,900 593 0 .03

66,585 3 .82

Saudi Arabia 

Al Rajhi Bank SAR 385,787 5,992 0 .34

Alinma Bank SAR 236,593 1,424 0 .08

Bank AlBilad SAR 85,565 547 0 .03

Banque Saudi Fransi SAR 504,839 4,544 0 .26

Dar Al Arkan Real Estate Development Co. SAR 170,428 445 0 .02

Etihad Etisalat Co. SAR 548,592 3,257 0 .19

Mobile Telecommunications Co. Saudi Arabia SAR 503,626 1,404 0 .08

National Commercial Bank SAR 390,004 4,562 0 .26

Riyad Bank SAR 846,712 4,826 0 .28

Sahara International Petrochemical Co. SAR 63,345 270 0 .01

Samba Financial Group SAR 315,379 2,430 0 .14

Saudi Airlines Catering Co. SAR 32,191 786 0 .05

Saudi Arabian Oil Co., Reg. S SAR 190,724 1,597 0 .09

Saudi Basic Industries Corp. SAR 60,500 1,349 0 .08

Saudi Cement Co. SAR 191,028 3,180 0 .18

Saudi Electricity Co. SAR 283,915 1,363 0 .08

Saudi Telecom Co. SAR 185,351 4,481 0 .26

42,457 2 .43

South Africa 

Absa Group Ltd. ZAR 406,739 3,869 0 .22

African Rainbow Minerals Ltd. ZAR 267,370 2,788 0 .16

Anglo American Platinum Ltd. ZAR 55,529 4,625 0 .26

AngloGold Ashanti Ltd. ZAR 128,388 2,589 0 .15

Aspen Pharmacare Holdings Ltd. ZAR 124,948 949 0 .06

Bid Corp. Ltd. ZAR 108,762 2,288 0 .13

Bidvest Group Ltd. (The) ZAR 82,693 1,079 0 .06

Clicks Group Ltd. ZAR 98,381 1,608 0 .09

Exxaro Resources Ltd. ZAR 105,939 885 0 .05

Gold Fields Ltd. ZAR 589,919 3,603 0 .21

Impala Platinum Holdings Ltd. ZAR 544,215 4,976 0 .29

Investec Ltd. ZAR 82,047 434 0 .03

Kumba Iron Ore Ltd. ZAR 149,087 3,961 0 .23

Liberty Holdings Ltd. ZAR 342,932 2,418 0 .14

Momentum Metropolitan Holdings ZAR 3,043,305 4,234 0 .24

MTN Group Ltd. ZAR 849,448 4,464 0 .26

MultiChoice Group ZAR 128,682 955 0 .05

Naspers Ltd. 'N' ZAR 137,297 20,037 1 .15

Nedbank Group Ltd. ZAR 117,378 1,603 0 .09
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Transferable securities and money market instruments admitted to an official exchange listing (continued) 

Equities (continued) 

South Africa (continued) 

Northam Platinum Ltd. ZAR 113,522 894 0 .05

Old Mutual Ltd. ZAR 4,260,469 5,336 0 .31

PSG Group Ltd. ZAR 44,643 666 0 .04

Remgro Ltd. ZAR 154,687 1,922 0 .11

RMB Holdings Ltd. ZAR 209,227 1,072 0 .06

Sibanye Gold Ltd. ZAR 721,990 1,651 0 .09

SPAR Group Ltd. (The) ZAR 62,123 782 0 .04

Standard Bank Group Ltd. ZAR 425,412 4,562 0 .26

Telkom SA SOC Ltd. ZAR 276,969 614 0 .03

Vodacom Group Ltd. ZAR 204,411 1,502 0 .08

Woolworths Holdings Ltd. ZAR 296,102 917 0 .05

87,283 4 .99

South Korea 

Amorepacific Corp. Preference KRW 3,119 215 0 .01

Amorepacific Corp. KRW 9,681 1,491 0 .09

AMOREPACIFIC Group Preference KRW 679 29 –

AMOREPACIFIC Group KRW 9,892 630 0 .04

BGF retail Co. Ltd. KRW 3,910 510 0 .03

BNK Financial Group, Inc. KRW 659,078 3,889 0 .22

Cheil Worldwide, Inc. KRW 120,917 2,240 0 .13

Daelim Industrial Co. Ltd. KRW 33,511 2,336 0 .14

DB Insurance Co. Ltd. KRW 21,556 869 0 .05

DGB Financial Group, Inc. KRW 57,667 316 0 .02

Doosan Bobcat, Inc. KRW 13,272 351 0 .02

Fila Korea Ltd. KRW 50,088 2,045 0 .12

GS Engineering & Construction Corp. KRW 14,926 357 0 .02

GS Holdings Corp. KRW 14,950 594 0 .03

Hana Financial Group, Inc. KRW 170,004 4,833 0 .28

Hankook Tire & Technology Co. Ltd. KRW 20,094 519 0 .03

Hanwha Chemical Corp. KRW 51,144 743 0 .04

HDC Holdings Co. Ltd. KRW 88,655 755 0 .04

HDC Hyundai Development Co-Engineering & Construction 'E' KRW 134,058 2,649 0 .15

Hyundai Department Store Co. Ltd. KRW 32,817 2,101 0 .12

Hyundai Engineering & Construction Co. Ltd. KRW 24,501 798 0 .05

Hyundai Glovis Co. Ltd. KRW 19,010 2,094 0 .12

Hyundai Mobis Co. Ltd. KRW 38,355 7,564 0 .43

Hyundai Motor Co. Preference KRW 8,444 466 0 .03

Hyundai Motor Co. Preference KRW 12,759 780 0 .05

Hyundai Motor Co. KRW 77,077 7,155 0 .41

Industrial Bank of Korea KRW 81,063 737 0 .04

Kakao Corp. KRW 16,116 1,906 0 .11

Kangwon Land, Inc. KRW 34,412 784 0 .05

KB Financial Group, Inc. KRW 128,162 4,704 0 .27

KCC Corp. KRW 3,404 612 0 .03

Kia Motors Corp. KRW 177,161 6,046 0 .35

Korea Aerospace Industries Ltd. KRW 21,942 576 0 .03
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Transferable securities and money market instruments admitted to an official exchange listing (continued) 

Equities (continued) 

South Korea (continued) 

Korea Investment Holdings Co. Ltd. KRW 57,523 3,208 0 .18

Korea Zinc Co. Ltd. KRW 7,938 2,599 0 .15

KT Corp., ADR USD 108,338 1,120 0 .06

LG Chem Ltd. Preference KRW 2,627 350 0 .02

LG Corp. KRW 32,212 1,831 0 .10

LG Electronics, Inc. KRW 91,132 5,062 0 .29

LG Household & Health Care Ltd. KRW 1,993 1,936 0 .11

LG Innotek Co. Ltd. KRW 21,133 2,279 0 .13

LG Uplus Corp. KRW 136,950 1,498 0 .08

Meritz Securities Co. Ltd. KRW 100,784 294 0 .02

Mirae Asset Daewoo Co. Ltd. KRW 117,700 685 0 .04

NAVER Corp. KRW 17,752 2,550 0 .15

NCSoft Corp. KRW 5,134 2,140 0 .12

NH Investment & Securities Co. Ltd. KRW 47,231 462 0 .03

Orange Life Insurance Ltd., Reg. S KRW 87,543 1,898 0 .11

Orion Corp. KRW 8,097 658 0 .04

POSCO KRW 23,912 4,356 0 .25

Samsung C&T Corp. KRW 6,581 550 0 .03

Samsung Electronics Co. Ltd. Preference KRW 262,203 9,170 0 .53

Samsung Electronics Co. Ltd. KRW 1,570,312 67,500 3 .87

Samsung Engineering Co. Ltd. KRW 266,519 3,942 0 .23

Samsung Securities Co. Ltd. KRW 110,961 3,299 0 .19

Shinhan Financial Group Co. Ltd. KRW 236,134 7,886 0 .45

Shinsegae, Inc. KRW 2,349 523 0 .03

SK Holdings Co. Ltd. KRW 11,113 2,243 0 .13

SK Hynix, Inc. KRW 174,987 12,685 0 .73

SK Telecom Co. Ltd. KRW 6,479 1,188 0 .07

Woongjin Coway Co. Ltd. KRW 14,458 1,037 0 .06

Woori Financial Group, Inc. KRW 326,219 2,915 0 .17

207,558 11 .92

Taiwan 

Accton Technology Corp. TWD 160,000 799 0 .05

Advantech Co. Ltd. TWD 104,000 933 0 .05

ASE Technology Holding Co. Ltd. TWD 1,096,000 2,710 0 .16

Asia Cement Corp. TWD 2,917,000 4,157 0 .24

Asustek Computer, Inc. TWD 226,000 1,555 0 .09

Catcher Technology Co. Ltd. TWD 193,000 1,302 0 .08

Cathay Financial Holding Co. Ltd. TWD 2,562,440 3,240 0 .19

Chang Hwa Commercial Bank Ltd. TWD 1,623,840 1,096 0 .06

Chicony Electronics Co. Ltd. TWD 1,346,000 3,560 0 .21

China Development Financial Holding Corp. TWD 4,518,000 1,306 0 .07

Chunghwa Telecom Co. Ltd. TWD 235,000 768 0 .04

CTBC Financial Holding Co. Ltd. TWD 5,959,000 3,967 0 .23

E.Sun Financial Holding Co. Ltd. TWD 3,064,593 2,541 0 .15

Far Eastern New Century Corp. TWD 955,000 847 0 .05

Far EasTone Telecommunications Co. Ltd. TWD 475,000 1,018 0 .06
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Transferable securities and money market instruments admitted to an official exchange listing (continued) 

Equities (continued) 

Taiwan (continued) 

Feng TAY Enterprise Co. Ltd. TWD 106,700 618 0 .04

First Financial Holding Co. Ltd. TWD 3,172,000 2,234 0 .13

Foxconn Technology Co. Ltd. TWD 271,000 533 0 .03

Fubon Financial Holding Co. Ltd. TWD 1,961,173 2,704 0 .15

Giant Manufacturing Co. Ltd. TWD 94,000 595 0 .03

Globalwafers Co. Ltd. TWD 63,000 716 0 .04

Hon Hai Precision Industry Co. Ltd. TWD 3,917,604 10,571 0 .61

Hotai Motor Co. Ltd. TWD 82,000 1,664 0 .10

Hua Nan Financial Holdings Co. Ltd. TWD 2,487,106 1,626 0 .09

Lite-On Technology Corp. TWD 623,000 914 0 .05

MediaTek, Inc. TWD 715,000 9,424 0 .54

Mega Financial Holding Co. Ltd. TWD 3,795,000 3,451 0 .20

Micro-Star International Co. Ltd. TWD 204,000 525 0 .03

Novatek Microelectronics Corp. TWD 186,000 1,210 0 .07

Pegatron Corp. TWD 631,000 1,283 0 .07

Phison Electronics Corp. TWD 371,000 3,754 0 .22

Pou Chen Corp. TWD 3,541,000 4,125 0 .24

Powertech Technology, Inc. TWD 217,000 644 0 .04

Quanta Computer, Inc. TWD 800,000 1,529 0 .09

Radiant Opto-Electronics Corp. TWD 888,000 3,167 0 .18

Realtek Semiconductor Corp. TWD 624,000 4,358 0 .25

Simplo Technology Co. Ltd. TWD 345,000 3,107 0 .18

Sino-American Silicon Products, Inc. TWD 427,000 1,261 0 .07

SinoPac Financial Holdings Co. Ltd. TWD 9,632,540 3,721 0 .21

Taishin Financial Holding Co. Ltd. TWD 9,359,679 4,033 0 .23

Taiwan Cement Corp. TWD 1,554,000 2,018 0 .12

Taiwan Cooperative Financial Holding Co. Ltd. TWD 2,705,591 1,668 0 .10

Taiwan Semiconductor Manufacturing Co. Ltd. TWD 7,961,966 78,320 4 .49

Uni-President Enterprises Corp. TWD 1,512,114 3,334 0 .19

United Microelectronics Corp. TWD 10,043,000 4,910 0 .28

Walsin Technology Corp. TWD 94,000 668 0 .04

Win Semiconductors Corp. TWD 109,000 952 0 .05

Wistron Corp. TWD 1,494,000 1,259 0 .07

WPG Holdings Ltd. TWD 487,000 566 0 .03

Yageo Corp. TWD 77,000 1,000 0 .06

Yuanta Financial Holding Co. Ltd. TWD 9,124,000 5,477 0 .31

197,738 11 .36

Thailand 

Advanced Info Service PCL, NVDR THB 912,200 5,779 0 .33

Bangkok Bank PCL THB 154,400 735 0 .04

Banpu PCL, NVDR THB 8,929,600 3,160 0 .18

Charoen Pokphand Foods PCL, NVDR THB 4,750,500 3,885 0 .22

CP ALL PCL, NVDR THB 3,084,000 6,627 0 .38

Electricity Generating PCL, NVDR THB 83,300 813 0 .05

Global Power Synergy PCL, NVDR THB 211,900 540 0 .03

Gulf Energy Development PCL, NVDR THB 171,800 848 0 .05
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Transferable securities and money market instruments admitted to an official exchange listing (continued) 

Equities (continued) 

Thailand (continued) 

Home Product Center PCL, NVDR THB 1,224,500 583 0 .03

Intouch Holdings PCL, NVDR THB 599,000 1,020 0 .06

Kiatnakin Bank PCL, NVDR THB 1,169,900 2,296 0 .13

Krung Thai Bank PCL, NVDR THB 1,129,150 551 0 .03

PTT Exploration & Production PCL, NVDR THB 1,241,800 4,598 0 .26

PTT Global Chemical PCL, NVDR THB 292,400 496 0 .03

PTT PCL, NVDR THB 3,600,000 4,711 0 .27

Ratch Group PCL, NVDR THB 1,605,200 3,282 0 .19

Siam Commercial Bank PCL (The), NVDR THB 844,000 3,062 0 .18

Thai Oil PCL, NVDR THB 353,900 734 0 .04

Thanachart Capital PCL, NVDR THB 1,638,700 2,607 0 .15

True Corp. PCL, NVDR THB 3,455,600 473 0 .03

46,800 2 .68

Turkey 

Akbank T.A.S. TRY 1 – –

Eregli Demir ve Celik Fabrikalari TAS TRY 3,109,204 4,208 0 .24

Haci Omer Sabanci Holding A/S TRY 284,842 407 0 .02

KOC Holding A/S TRY 226,449 689 0 .04

Tupras Turkiye Petrol Rafinerileri A/S TRY 36,907 701 0 .04

Turkcell Iletisim Hizmetleri A/S TRY 1,536,930 3,175 0 .18

Turkiye Garanti Bankasi A/S TRY 718,314 1,198 0 .07

Turkiye Is Bankasi A/S 'C' TRY 2,928,839 2,811 0 .16

13,189 0 .75

United Arab Emirates 

Aldar Properties PJSC AED 4,161,101 2,180 0 .12

DP World plc USD 48,963 571 0 .03

Emaar Properties PJSC AED 2,775,020 2,706 0 .15

Emirates Telecommunications Group Co. PJSC AED 510,592 2,026 0 .12

7,483 0 .42

United States of America 

Southern Copper Corp. USD 27,573 1,043 0 .06

Yum China Holdings, Inc. USD 118,300 5,060 0 .29

6,103 0 .35

Total Equities 1,662,901 95 .42

Total Transferable securities and money market instruments admitted to an official exchange listing 1,662,901 95 .42
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Schedule of Investments (continued) 
As at 31 December 2019 

Investments Currency

Quantity/

Nominal

Value

Market 

Value

EUR' 000

% of Net 

Assets

Other transferable securities and money market instruments 

 Equities 

Greece 

FF Group* EUR 89,646 – –

– –

Total Equities – –

Total Other transferable securities and money market instruments – –

Units of authorised UCITS or other collective investment undertakings 

Collective Investment Schemes - UCITS 

Luxembourg 

Robeco QI Chinese A-share Active Equities - Z EUR † EUR 664,866 69,831 4 .01

69,831 4 .01

Total Collective Investment Schemes - UCITS 69,831 4 .01

Total Units of authorised UCITS or other collective investment undertakings 69,831 4 .01

       

Total Investments 1,732,732 99 .43

Cash 6,087 0.35

Other Assets/(Liabilities) 3,775 0.22

Total Net Assets 1,742,594 100.00

* Security is valued at its fair value under the direction of the Board of Directors. 
† Related Party Fund. 

Financial Futures Contracts 

Security Description 

Number of

Contracts Currency

Unrealised 

Gain/(Loss)

EUR' 000
% of Net 

Assets

MSCI Emerging Market Index, 20/03/2020 199 USD  60 –

Total Unrealised Gain on Financial Futures Contracts - Assets  60 –

Net Unrealised Gain on Financial Futures Contracts - Assets  60 –
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Rotterdam, 15 May 2020 

The Manager 

Robeco Institutional Asset Management B.V. 

Policymakers RIAM: 

Gilbert O.J.M. Van Hassel  

Karin van Baardwijk 

Peter J.J. Ferket 

Mark C.W. den Hollander 

Martin O. Nijkamp 

Hans-Christoph von Reiche 

Victor Verberk 

Lia Belilos-Wessels
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KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (‘KPMG International’), a Swiss entity.

Independent auditor's report

To: the General Meeting and manager of Robeco QI Institutional Emerging Markets Enhanced 
Index Equities Fund

Report on the accompanying financial statements

Our opinion

We have audited the financial statements 2019 of Robeco QI Institutional Emerging Markets 
Enhanced Index Equities Fund (hereafter: 'the fund'), based in Rotterdam.

In our opinion the accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial
position of Robeco QI Institutional Emerging Markets Enhanced Index Equities Fund as at 31 
December 2019, and of its result for 2019 in accordance with Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil 
Code.

The financial statements comprise:

1 the balance sheet as at 31 December 2019;

2 the profit and loss account for 2019; and

3 the notes comprising a summary of the accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Basis for our opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Dutch law, including the Dutch Standards on 
Auditing. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the 'Our 
responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements' section of our report.

We are independent of Robeco QI Institutional Emerging Markets Enhanced Index Equities Fund
in accordance with the Wet toezicht accountantsorganisaties (Wta, Audit firms supervision act), 
the 'Verordening inzake de onafhankelijkheid van accountants bij assurance-opdrachten' (ViO, 
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants, a regulation with respect to independence) and 
other relevant independence regulations in the Netherlands. Furthermore, we have complied with 
the 'Verordening gedrags- en beroepsregels accountants' (VGBA, Dutch Code of Ethics).

We believe the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion.

Report on the other information included in the annual report

In addition to the financial statements and our auditor's report thereon, the annual report contains 
other information that consists of:

— Report by the manager;

— Schedule of Investments;

— other information pursuant to Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code;

Based on the following procedures performed, we conclude that the other information:
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— is consistent with the financial statements and does not contain material misstatements;

— contains the information as required by Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code.

We have read the other information. Based on our knowledge and understanding obtained 
through our audit of the financial statements or otherwise, we have considered whether the other 
information contains material misstatements.

By performing these procedures, we comply with the requirements of Part 9 of Book 2 of the 
Dutch Civil Code and the Dutch Standard 720. The scope of the procedures performed is less 
than the scope of those performed in our audit of the financial statements.

Description of the responsibilities for the financial statements

Responsibilities of management for the financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code. Furthermore, management is 
responsible for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the 
preparation of the financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
errors or fraud.

As part of the preparation of the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing 
the company's ability to continue as a going concern. Based on the financial reporting framework 
mentioned, management should prepare the financial statements using the going concern basis 
of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the fund or to cease operations, or 
has no realistic alternative but to do so. Management should disclose events and circumstances 
that may cast significant doubt on the company's ability to continue as a going concern in the 
financial statements.

Our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objective is to plan and perform the audit engagement in a manner that allows us to obtain 
sufficient and appropriate audit evidence for our opinion.

Our audit has been performed with a high, but not absolute, level of assurance, which means we 
may not have detected all material errors and fraud during our audit.

Misstatements can arise from fraud or errors and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken 
on the basis of the financial statements. The materiality affects the nature, timing and extent of 
our audit procedures and the evaluation of the effect of identified misstatements on our opinion.

We have exercised professional judgement and have maintained professional scepticism 
throughout the audit, in accordance with Dutch Standards on Auditing, ethical requirements and 
independence requirements. Our audit included e.g.:

— identifying and assessing the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, 
whether due to errors or fraud, designing and performing audit procedures responsive to 
those risks, and obtaining audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher 
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than for one resulting from errors, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control;

— obtaining an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing 
an opinion on the effectiveness of the fund's internal control;

— evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management;

— concluding on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the fund's ability to continue 
as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw 
attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such 
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit 
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions 
may cause the company ceasing to continue as a going concern;

— evaluating the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including 
the disclosures; and

— evaluating whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant 
findings in internal control that we identify during our audit.

15 May 2020

KPMG Accountants N.V.

G.J. Hoeve RA


